

INDIGENOUS AND NON-INDIGENOUS ARCHAEOLOGICAL HERITAGE FOR PROPOSED PALING YARDS WIND FARM

Prepared for Union Fenosa Wind Australia Pty Ltd

November 2012

(Revised June 2013)

© Copyright This report is Copyright Protected, and is not to be reproduced in part or whole or used by a third party without the express written permission of Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd.

> Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd ABN 34 126 481 418 PO BOX 690 Springwood 2777 Ph: 1300 302 507 Fax: (02) 8580 4731 www.andersonenvironmental.com.au

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Execut	ive Summary3
Acknow	wledgments6
Acrony	7 ms
Glossa	ry8
1.	INTRODUCTION
1.1.	Background 10
1.2.	Objectives 11
1.2.1.	Purpose of the Aboriginal Heritage Assessment11
1.2.2.	Aboriginal Cultural Heritage 12
1.3.	Site Description13
1.3.1.	Location13
1.3.2.	Physical Environment18
1.3.3.	Geology
1.3.4.	Ecological Setting 19
1.4.	Description of the Proposal 20
1.5.	Aboriginal Community Consultation22
1.5.1.	Consultation for Current Assessment 22
1.5.2.	Consultation During 2005 Assessment 23
1.6.	Legislative Requirements 25
1.6.1.	Commonwealth Heritage Protection 25
1.6.2.	New South Wales Non-Indigenous Heritage Protection
1.6.3.	New South Wales Indigenous Heritage Protection
2.	METHODOLOGY
2.1.	Desktop Review 27
2.2.	Survey Methodology27
2.3.	Limitations 28
3.	2005 SURVEY RESULTS
4.	CURRENT SURVEY RESULTS
4.1.	Identified Sites
4.1.1.	SITE 1
4.1.2.	SITE 2
4.1.3.	SITE 3

4.1.4.	SITE 4
4.1.5.	SITE 5
4.1.6.	SITE 6
4.1.7.	SITE 7 44
4.1.8.	SITE 8
5.	DISCUSSION AND SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT48
5.1.	Assessment of Significance Categories 48
5.1.1.	Aboriginal cultural significance 48
5.1.2.	Research Potential/Archaeological value 48
5.1.3.	Representativeness
5.1.4.	Educational value 49
5.1.5.	Aesthetic value
5.2.	Assessment of Significance 49
5.2.1.	Non-Indigenous Heritage 49
5.2.2.	Indigenous Heritage 50
5.3.	Summary 53
5.3.1.	Non-Indigenous Heritage 53
5.3.2.	Indigenous Heritage 53
6.	IMPACT ASSESSMENT54
6.1.	Summary 54
6.1.1.	Non-Indigenous Heritage 54
6.1.2.	Indigenous Heritage 54
7.	RECOMMENDATIONS55
8.	REFERENCES
APPENI	DIX A – Site Maps 58
APPEN	DIX B – Site and Artefact Information
APPENI	DIX C – Aboriginal Archaeological Sites (June 2005)66
APPENI	DIX D – Historic Cultural Sites (June 2005) 70
APPENI	DIX E – Proposed Turbine Coordinates
APPENI	DIX F – Letter from Pejar LALC 80
APPEN	DIX G – AHIMS Reports and Site Cards

Executive Summary

Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd was commissioned by Union Fenosa Wind Australia Pty Ltd (UFWA) to undertake an indigenous and non-indigenous cultural heritage assessment of the proposed Paling Yards Wind Farm.

The proposed development includes the construction of up to 55 wind turbines along with their associated infrastructure including access roads, access tracks, crane hardstands, onsite and off-site substations and transmission line.

The proposed wind farm is similar to the original proposal for a wind farm on the site in 2005. The previous site survey and draft assessment undertaken by Heritage Concepts (June 2005) found 14 Aboriginal Archaeological sites across the landscape which had not been previously located. No previous surveys had been undertaken and, accordingly, no Aboriginal Archaeological sites were identified in the proposed development area prior to the 2005 survey.

The survey during 2005 was undertaken during the height of the drought and, as such, ground surface visibility (GSV) was good. The current survey was undertaken following a period of high levels of rainfall and as such the GSV was lower than in the previous survey due to good vegetation growth. The current survey detected 8 Aboriginal Archaeological sites distributed on both the eastern and western sides of the site. The current survey did not attempt to re-find the sites of the 2005 surveys as this would involve unnecessary duplication; rather the survey was focused on identifying any new sites. The following sites detected in the 2005 surveys occur near to proposed turbines and/or infrastructure:

- Site PYWF A11 located near Turbine P47
- Site PYWF A10 located near access track between turbines P45 and P46
- Site PYWF A7 located near access track between turbines P54 and P55.

These sites should be able to be avoided through micrositing however they will be again examined in detail in the future Cultural Heritage Management Plan prior to the construction phase.

In relation to non-indigenous heritage, a number of non-indigenous cultural heritage items are located within the site. None of the non-indigenous cultural heritage items located within the site are considered to be significant and none are listed under the Local Environmental Plan (LEP) (for Oberon and Upper Lachlan Shires) or recent Cultural Heritage Study of the Upper Lachlan Shire. None are listed on the NSW State Heritage Register and a search of this register detected no additional non-indigenous heritage items occurring within the project area. Further, none of the non-indigenous cultural heritage items located within the site would be disturbed as part of the proposal. As such, there is limited discussion in this report in relation to non-indigenous heritage.

In relation to indigenous heritage, the surveys undertaken detected 8 new Aboriginal Archaeological sites during the field assessments. Visibility was generally quite poor over most of the site as most of the paddock areas had good ground cover present which reduced the potential for detecting artefacts. The finds made were surface finds. Generally the potential for sub-surface material is assessed as low to moderate however a precautionary approach to further investigations is required.

The site surveys were undertaken through the areas proposed to be disturbed by the project in consultation with the Pejar Local Aboriginal Land Council (Pejar LALC) as one of the Registered Aboriginal Party (RAP) for the Project site area. The project remains subject to detailed design, particularly in relation to the location of the access tracks, underground cabling and overhead electrical connections. As such, additional surveys will be required once the proposed project is approved and the final location of the access tracks, cabling, and powerlines are determined and pegged. This would allow for minor changes to the final design if required. This would allow for any sites detected in the proposed detailed surveys to be potentially avoided. Further assessment is not deemed to be required in most paddock areas (including where turbines are proposed to be located) as there is a long history of soil disturbance and pasture improvement. The Pejar LALC have reviewed this report in draft format and is in agreement with the management approach and the additional consultation and surveys proposed. Prior to construction, additional consultation should be undertaken with the Pejar LALC and other stakeholders (collectively referred to as 'Registered Aboriginal Parties') that have registered their interest for participation in the consultation process for this development project.

Due to the limited surface visibility, further archaeological assessment in the form of surface and sub-surface testing may be required where recorded sites overlap with proposed development areas if impacts cannot be avoided through the implementation of a Cultural Heritage Management Plan. From the current proposal it appears that sites can be avoided however once the development areas are pegged in the field by the surveyors further detailed surveys will be required to ensure no sites will be impacted. These surveys would be conducted with field officers from the Registered Aboriginal Parties.

The final micrositing of the proposed infrastructure should be undertaken in consideration of utilising and upgrading as much as possible the existing farm access tracks where possible to achieve an overall site plan which minimises unnecessary new soil disturbance.

All efforts should be made to design around known sites and further on-going consultation will be required with the Registered Aboriginal Parties in regard to the significance and management of the sites. Discussions with Pejar LALC and other Registered Aboriginal Parties on this project and other projects indicate that since items can be potentially missed if detailed surveys are undertaken prior the final micrositing of the infrastructure, they prefer to undertake additional detailed assessment at the pre-construction stage once disturbance areas (including access tracks) are pegged on the ground. This is important for sites to be fully protected and the proposed Cultural Heritage Management Plan would be written following these detailed surveys in consultation with the Registered Aboriginal

Parties to enable the full protection of any new sites found occurring near to any proposed works.

Note: review of the NSW Office of Environment and Heritage (OEH) comments in regard to legislative requirements indicates that:

The high level overviews of the legislative requirements contained in this Indigenous and Non-Indigenous Archaeological Heritage Report remain current. In particular, as the project is a transitional Part 3A project, it is not affected by any amendments made to the NPW Act which relate to the manner of granting or determining AHIPS.

Acknowledgments

Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd wishes to acknowledge the contribution and assistance made by the Pejar Local Aboriginal Land Council including Delise Freeman, and Luke Burgess.

Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd also wishes to acknowledge the work performed previously by Heritage Concepts for their survey and draft assessment of the site in 2005.

Acronyms

ALR Act means Aboriginal Land Rights Act 1983 (NSW)

AHIP means Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permit

EPBC Act means Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth)

DEC means Department of Environment and Conservation (NSW) [former name of the OEH]

DECCW means Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water (NSW) [former name of OEH]

EP&A Act means Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (NSW)

LALCs means Local Aboriginal Land Councils

LEP means Local Environmental Plan

NPW Act means National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 (NSW)

NPW Regulation means National Parks and Wildlife Regulation 2002 (NSW)

NPWS means the National Parks and Wildlife Service (now part of OEH)

NSWALC means New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council

NT Act means Native Title Act 1993 (Cth)

OEH means Office of Environment and Heritage (NSW)

Glossary

Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permit (AHIP)

The statutory instrument that the Director General of DECCW issues under s.87 and/or s.90 of the NPW Act:

s.87 Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permits – required to disturb or move an Aboriginal object or disturb or excavate land for the purposes of discovering an Aboriginal object (including salvage); and

s.90 Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permits – required to destroy, damage or deface an Aboriginal object or Aboriginal place.

AHIPs are not required for projects approved under Part 3A of the EP&A Act.

Aboriginal object

A statutory term, meaning: '... any deposit, object or material evidence (not being a handicraft made for sale) relating to the Aboriginal habitation of the area that comprises NSW, being habitation before or concurrent with (or both) the occupation of that area by persons of non-Aboriginal extraction, and includes Aboriginal remains' (s.5 NPW Act).

Aboriginal owners

Aboriginal owner is a term used under the ALR Act and the NPW Act. Aboriginal owners are defined as 'persons whose names are entered on the Register of Aboriginal Owners because of the persons' cultural association with particular land." (ALR Act)

Registration as an Aboriginal owner under the ALR Act provides statutory recognition of an Aboriginal person's cultural associations with land.

Aboriginal place

A statutory term, meaning any place declared to be an Aboriginal place (under s.84 of the NPW Act) by the Minister administering the NPW Act, by order published in the NSW Government Gazette, because the Minister is of the opinion that the place is or was of special significance with respect to Aboriginal culture. It may or may not contain Aboriginal objects.

Cultural knowledge

Cultural knowledge is directly associated with Aboriginal lore. Aboriginal people connect to their land through their lore, and through lore, people acquire knowledge of all aspects of their environment along with responsibilities, obligations and behaviours that are required to sustain their survival. Cultural knowledge has been passed on through the generations in a complex system of stories, language, art, songs, dance, ceremonies and customs that have

been practiced since the time of creation (Dreamtime). The lore continues to govern all aspects of life for Aboriginal people on their traditional land/Country and waters. While cultural knowledge can be interpreted to mean something that is 'in the past' or 'fixed' and 'unchanging', in the context of these requirements it is considered as a living, dynamic force that is adaptive and innovative and as belonging to living communities.

<u>Guidelines for Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment and Community</u> <u>Consultation</u>

The "Guidelines for Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment and Community Consultation, July 2005" prepared by the then DECC (now DECCW).

Local Aboriginal Land Councils

Local Aboriginal Land Councils, or LALCs, are corporate bodies constituted under the ALR Act. Under the ALR Act, LALCs have defined boundaries within which they operate.

Native title

Native title refers to those rights and interests in land and water of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people that are derived from the traditional laws and customs of their nations (see s.223 of the NT Act for a detailed statutory definition).

NTSCORP Limited

NTSCORP, formerly NSW Native Title Services Ltd, is the body funded under s203FE of the NT Act to perform the functions of a native title representative body in NSW and the ACT.

Proponent

A person undertaking consultation which may lead to an application for an AHIP under the NPW Act.

Registered Aboriginal Parties / Stakeholders

Aboriginal people, Aboriginal organisations or their representatives who have registered an interest in being consulted in accordance with requirements of the relevant Guideline.

Registered native title claimant(s)

A person or persons whose name or names appear in an entry on the Register of Native Title Claims as the applicant in relation to a claim to hold native title in relation to the land and waters.

<u>Note:</u> The Register of Native Title Claims is administered by the National Native Title Tribunal.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd (AEC) was engaged by Union Fenosa Wind Australia Pty Ltd (UFWA) to undertake an indigenous and non-indigenous cultural heritage assessment in relation to the proposed Paling Yards Wind Farm (**Project**).

This assessment has been prepared to address the Director-General's Requirements issued in relation to the Project and to determine the potential impacts of the Project on items of both Aboriginal and European cultural heritage. This study will support the environmental assessment report being prepared in relation to the Project.

A detailed description of the Project is contained in section 1.4 of this report. In summary, the Project involves the construction of up to 55 wind turbines and related infrastructure such as access roads, access tracks, crane hardstands, on-site and off-site substations and powerline for connection to the electricity grid. Refer to Appendix E for the proposed turbine coordinates.

The assessment of non-indigenous cultural heritage involved the assessment of the European built items located within the site. The assessment also utilised the Oberon LEP, the Upper Lachlan LEP as well as the recent Upper Lachlan Shire Cultural Heritage Study 2007-2008. These studies were examined in order to assist in identifying both European and Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Sites within the project area.

The construction activities have potential to disturb any Aboriginal objects located on the surface of the ground or underground. Field assessments were initially undertaken by Jason Anderson of AEC to determine potential areas for Aboriginal objects, sites or artefacts. Once the site familiarisation was undertaken, landscape areas with a high potential for objects, sites or artefacts (such as important resources or topographic areas) were designated and further detailed targeted surveys were undertaken. These targeted surveys involved the following persons; Luke Burgess of Pejar LALC and Jason Anderson of Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd.

Surveys also examined the turbine sites and approximate locations of the interconnections however as the interconnections were not pegged at the time the locations of these surveys is approximate only and has to be followed up with more detailed surveys once the locations are pegged in the field.

This assessment has been prepared in accordance with the Guidelines for Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment and Community Consultation.

The assessment references the previous assessment of the site which was undertaken by Heritage Concepts (June 2005), Draft "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological Assessment and Statement of Heritage Impact – Paling Yards Wind Farm – Oberon, New South Wales".

As this previous study was undertaken during the worst of the drought, ground surface visibility was high during this previous survey thus allowing for easier site detection. Sites discovered in that survey are summarised in Section 3 of this report.

The combination of this previous assessment of the site combined with the current assessment (along with the proposed detailed surveys pre-construction) result in a high level of survey undertaken for this site. This level of detail and methodology is considered adequate for this development and most of the proposed works are within paddocks which are regularly grazed and worked with machinery.

1.2. Objectives

The objectives of this study were to assess the potential impacts of the Project on indigenous and non-indigenous cultural heritage items and to make recommendations to reduce any potential impacts.

As part of this process background investigations were conducted, which included review of previous studies. The background assessment of the site was undertaken to identify potential sites of cultural significance prior to the targeted archaeological surveys being undertaken.

The background assessment included site surveys followed by targeted surveys once landscape areas had been defined. The targeted surveys involved surveys of areas which were identified as being potentially impacted by the Project. The proposed access tracks and roads and transmission line route options (as described at section 1.4 of this report) have been identified on a map only and had not been pegged at the time the targeted surveys were carried out. Accordingly, the targeted surveys examined the indicative areas of the proposed access tracks and roads, and transmission line route options and were coarse in scale. Additional pre-commissioning surveys will be required once the final project layout has been determined and locations of the access tracks and roads, and transmission line are surveyed and pegged for identification.

The assessment of the European Cultural Heritage entailed evaluation of the built items located within the Project site, such as buildings, and other potential items, such as bottle dumps. The assessment was based on the potential age and significance of the buildings and other items.

1.2.1. Purpose of the Aboriginal Heritage Assessment

The Guidelines for Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment and Community Consultation identify matters which are relevant in assessing whether the proposed development is likely to have an impact on Aboriginal cultural heritage.

The objective of the assessment process is to provide information to enable decision makers to ensure that developments have considered the following:

- Information regarding the significance to those Aboriginal people with a cultural association with the land of any Aboriginal cultural heritage values on which the proposed activity is likely to have an impact.
- The views of those Aboriginal people regarding the likely impact of the proposal on their Aboriginal cultural heritage.
- Any measures which could be implemented to avoid, mitigate or offset the likely impact(s).
- Any justification for any likely impact(s), including any alternatives considered for the proposal.
- Identify whether the study area has Aboriginal cultural heritage significance and identify appropriate measures to preserve any significance.
- Identify objects and places of significance to the Aboriginal community that may be impacted by the proposal so that these impacts can be avoided wherever possible.
- Identify any other items of heritage significance located in the study area and provide measures for conservation.
- Demonstrate that input by affected Aboriginal communities has been considered, when determining and assessing impacts.

1.2.2. Aboriginal Cultural Heritage

Aboriginal cultural heritage consists of places and items that are of significance to Aboriginal people because of their traditions, observances, customs, beliefs and history. It is evidence of the lives of Aboriginal people right up to the present. Aboriginal cultural heritage is dynamic and may comprise physical (or tangible) or non-physical (non-tangible) elements. It includes items made and used in earlier times, such as stone tools, art sites and ceremonial or burial grounds, as well as more recent evidence such as old mission buildings, massacre sites and cemeteries. Evidence suggests that Aboriginal people have occupied Australia for at least 50,000 years.

The evidence and important cultural meanings relating to this occupation are present throughout the landscape, as well as in documents and in the memories, stories and associations of Aboriginal people. This is reflected in their teachings through their Dreamtime stories.

For Aboriginal people, the significance of individual features is derived from their interrelatedness within the cultural landscape. This means that features cannot be assessed in isolation, and that assessments need to consider the feature (artefact) and its associations in a holistic manner. This often requires a range of assessment methods with the close involvement and participation of Aboriginal people. Assessment includes lands, waterways, landscape features and native plants and animals that are culturally significant to Aboriginal people. As with the heritage of all peoples, Aboriginal cultural heritage provides essential links between the past and present for Aboriginal people. It forms their identity.

The social and cultural information leading to the establishment of social and cultural values includes the spiritual, traditional, historical and/or contemporary associations and attachments which a place or area has for the present-day Aboriginal community. Often places of social significance have associations with contemporary community identity. Such places can have strong traditional memories of the past and provide direct links to their ancestry. Communities often experience a sense of loss should a place of cultural heritage significance be damaged or destroyed.

Accordingly the Guidelines for Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment and Community Consultation require consultation with the Aboriginal community because:

- Aboriginal heritage has a cultural and archaeological significance and that both should be the subject of assessment to inform its decision process;
- Aboriginal people are the primary determinants of the significance of their heritage;
- Aboriginal community involvement should occur early in the assessment process to ensure that their values and concerns can be taken into account and so that their own decision making structures can function; and
- The information arising from the assessment allows consideration of Aboriginal community views about significance and impact and allows for management and mitigation measures to be considered in an informed way (NSW DECC 2004).

Aboriginal people's association with the local landscape can be understood in the following ways:

Intangible (Non – Physical)

- Non-archaeological places (eg. Events/occupation/use associations)
- > As places invested with cultural meaning (eg. Spiritual places)

Tangible (Physical)

- As natural features (eg. Resources use/procurement places)
- > As material traces (eg. Archaeological sites, graves, shelters)

1.3. Site Description

1.3.1. Location

The site is located on the western extent of the Great Dividing Range, 60km south of Oberon, 60km north of Goulburn in NSW and approximately 140km west of Sydney. The proposed wind farm site, along with the assessed and preferred northern transmission line route option are situated in the Oberon local government area (LGA). The assessed but no

longer proposed transmission line options to the south fall within the Upper Lachlan LGA within the South Eastern Highlands Bioregion and the Central Tablelands botanical subdivision.

The site includes two separate land holdings over approximately 3,900 Hectares referred to as 'Mingary Park' and 'Paling Yards'. Please refer to Figure 1 – Site Boundary Map. The majority of the site has been cleared of native vegetation. The site is bordered by the National Parks and uncleared land to the southeast all of which are heavily vegetated.

The surrounding area consists predominantly of large rural properties and National Park with the eastern edge of the site in the proximity of the Kanangra Boyd National Park and Abercrombie National Park to the west and south.

The area is heavily undulating with some steep slopes. The site is bisected by Abercrombie Road which links the towns of Oberon and Goulburn. The closest towns are Porters Retreat and Curraweela which have township populations of approximately 180 and 320 respectively.

Several water courses traverse the area including the Abercrombie River which flows into the Lachlan River. The Abercrombie River forms the southern boundary of the site.



Figure 1: Site Boundary Map

The site is approximately 40km to the northeast of the existing Crookwell 1 wind farm and the approved Crookwell 2 Wind Farm.

The Project location and components, including the indicative location of transmission line route Options 1, 2 and are shown on Figure 2.

Whilst all four transmission route options have been assessed along with the other Project components as part of this assessment, Option 4 (the Northern transmission route option), is the preferred option as, owing to its much shorter length, it will result in significantly lower impacts and improved constructability. Accordingly, Options 1, 2 and 3 (the southern transmission route options) are no longer proposed as part of the Project.



Figure 2: Project location and study area



Figure 3: Proposed Northern Transmission Line Option

1.3.2. Physical Environment

The proposed wind farm site and transmission line route Option 4 are located within Oberon Shire Council LGA. The wind farm site was selected due to its topography and high wind levels being located on the Great Dividing Range.

The site is generally cleared for sheep and cattle grazing with remaining native vegetation located mostly on the slopes where the soil condition and quality has no value for grazing activities. The wind turbines are proposed to be located primarily on cleared grazing lands as are the access roads and other associated infrastructure. The turbine sites vary in elevation from 900 mAHD to 1,065 mAHD.

1.3.3. Geology

Both European and Aboriginal land use has been determined by the natural environment. The landscape provides resources by way of its geology and, to a lesser extent, climate. Geology is the important factor as Aboriginal people inhabited the whole of Australia throughout a range of different climates.

The geology of any area is influenced by past geological processes over millions of years. This forms the basis of the landscape and influences the topography, soil types, and vegetation communities and fauna species. All of these are related to the underlying geology of the landscape. For aboriginal people the geology of an area provided the basis for much of their critical life resources. This was through the geology landscape features of topography and soil type influencing vegetation (through soil fertility) and thus providing resources through flora and fauna species for tools, shelter and medicine.

The geology also formed features of special significance such as waterways and rocky outcrops, some of which provided a source of quarrying for stone tools along with their significance as ceremonial sites/sheltering and as a hunting resource. The soil types influenced the vegetation communities present which in turn influenced the fauna habitats. Geological landforms such as hills, mountains, valleys, creeklines and billabongs in combination with availability of food resources influenced land use intensity.

Aboriginal people have a special understanding of the land and its resources and the combination of these aspects discussed above influenced land use intensity and significance. The understanding of these factors is important when searching for heritage sites as it is the reading of the landscape and its resources which often leads to archaeological finds.

The practicalities of living in the Australian bush influence choices such as campsite location (summer and winter) along with ceremonial sites (often on high ground). Generally well drained soft soils were preferred for camp sites although smaller campsites can be spread throughout the landscape. Waterways and billabongs provide a source of water and food such as fish, aquatic plants and mussels but also hunting for fauna such as macropods. Rocky areas provided sheltering sites for fauna and also provided sheltering sites where

overhangs and caves were present. Vegetation areas and their resources provided bark for canoes, material for baskets and fish traps, yams, berries, and sheltering structures.

The combination of these resources concentrated land use due to the ease of living, and areas where these resources were more readily available were used at higher intensities. When surveying for signs of Aboriginal use of a site a clear understanding of all these factors is critical for the background assessment of the site and therefore the targeted survey design.

The climatic conditions for the Paling Yards area are diverse with temperatures ranging from below zero in winter to above 30 degrees in summer. As with most areas on the Tablelands microtopography influences local temperatures with the higher points being cooler than the more sheltered lower areas.

The highest rainfall occurs in summer with an annual rainfall of 852 mm. The climate in the local area is not extreme enough to restrict hunter-gather occupation and the area was used on a year round basis. Water resource availability can be a factor which results in seasonal movement or shifts in land use. The local area however is well supplied with many creeks and the main Abercrombie River.

Sources of stone suitable for making stone tools in the area include quartz and quartzite, both of which occur in outcrops in the other rock formations. Chert quarry sites have also been found in the region. Around the localised area of Goulburn-Crookwell-Oberon, stone tool manufacture is from basalt (for axes), quartz, silcrete, phyllite, quartzite and mudstone. Other belts nearer to Goulburn have included tuff, chert and quartz feldspar porphyry (McDonald & Garling 1997).

1.3.4. Ecological Setting

The vegetation and geology (landscape structural features) of the area provide a vast range of food and sheltering resources. There are records of bark huts being used by local Aboriginal people for shelters and of possum skins being used for clothing. A broad range of plants were available with stringy bark for construction using the bark, Xanthorrhoea (grass trees) for the construction of baskets and fish traps (and resin) and edible plants such as Banksia, Hakea, Melaleuca and Grevillea.

The varied topography of the area enabled Aboriginal people to be responsive to the climate and resources for shelter and food which would have varied with seasonal influences. The diets of Aboriginal people of the local area is similar to Aboriginal people across Australia and contained a wide range of food items such as yams, seeds, possums, kangaroos and wallabies, fish, mussels, crayfish and insects.

Fire as a management and hunting tool would have influenced the landscape and lifestyle of the Aboriginal people of the local area. The combination of topography and soil types influencing fertile flats near water would have enabled the manipulation of foraging resources for key food items such as kangaroos and wallabies. Burning of these areas to bring on the growth of green sweet grasses would attract and concentrate these food items due to the food and nearby water thus making hunting easier.

1.4. Description of the Proposal

UFWA, the Proponent for the Project, is seeking approval for the construction and operation of a wind energy facility to be known as the Paling Yards Wind Farm.

The Project comprises a number of elements, including:

- Up to 55 individual wind turbines standing up to 175m at top of blade tip with up to 4.5 MW capacity each;
- Internal unsealed tracks for turbine access;
- Upgrades to local road infrastructure;
- An underground electrical and communication cable network linking turbines to each other and the proposed on-site substation;
- A temporary concrete batching plant to supply concrete for the foundations of the turbines and other associated structures;
- Potential for obstacle lighting to selected turbines;
- Removal of small portions of native vegetation within the site and en route to the substation;
- A wind farm and substation control room and facilities building;
- An on-site and off-site electrical substations;
- Connection to the electricity grid by Option 4, the northern route option, approximately 9km of overhead transmission line leading north from the proposed on-site substation to the off-site substation located adjacent to the Mt Piper to Bannaby 500kV transmission line which passes to the North-East and East of the site; This option replaces the other assessed options for the southern route options which had approximately 55km of overhead transmission line leading south from the proposed wind farm site to the approved Crookwell 2 Wind Farm substation and then connecting to the Yass to Bannaby 330kV transmission line.

Figure 4 shows the proposed indicative layout of the project and is subject to further detail design.



Figure 4: Indicative Site Layout Plan

1.5. Aboriginal Community Consultation

1.5.1. Consultation for Current Assessment

The study area that covers the site falls within the boundaries of the Pejar Local Aboriginal Land Council (**Pejar LALC**) as defined on the mapped areas under the Aboriginal Land Rights Act (1983) – Aboriginal Land Councils. As part of the Project consultation process, Delise Freeman of the Pejar LALC was contacted early in the site assessment process and provided with an invitation for the Pejar LALC to be involved in this indigenous cultural heritage assessment. This invitation was accepted, and accordingly, Luke Burgess of Pejar LALC, a qualified Aboriginal site assessment officer, worked on the targeted surveys which were undertaken once the initial scoping surveys were completed.

In addition to the invitation extended directly to Pejar LALC and the Gundungurra Tribal Corporation, advertisements were placed in the Goulburn Post, the Crookwell Gazette and the Oberon Gazette for two consecutive weeks requesting expressions of interest in the proposal. The advertisement is shown below.

UNION FENOSA

WIND AUSTRALIA

ABORIGINAL COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

PROPOSED PALING YARDS WIND FARM

Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd on behalf of Union Fenosa Wind Australia Pty Ltd is seeking to identify Aboriginal Stakeholder Groups and/or people wishing to be involved in an Aboriginal Assessment at the proposed Paling Yards Wind Farm.

Consultation for the project will be conducted in accordance with the Aboriginal cultural heritage consultation requirements for proponents 2010 (Environment, Climate Change and Water) – Part 6 National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974.

Interested people or groups are invited to register in writing to:

Attn: Jason Anderson

Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd

PO Box 511

CHATSWOOD 2067

Applications must include all contact details including: name, contact number(s), email and/or fax. Telephone enquiries can be made by calling 1300 302 507. The closing date for applications is 5^{th} January 2011.

There was one response to the advertisement from Graham Maranda in regard to a family descendant being buried within approximately 2.4 kms of Paling Yards. His relative was the chief of the Burra Burra Tribe during the 1840's. The actual location of the burial site is unknown and the only information available is that "Miranda" or "Maranda" Chief of the Burra Burra Tribe is buried within approximately 2.4kms of the Paling Yards (Historical Location). Discussions with Graham Maranda who has been researching in detail his family heritage as well as searches by Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd indicate that it is not known where the actual burial site is located however its location is clear of the proposed development site. (G. Maranda pers.com). Mr Maranda also indicated that he is in discussions with Pejar LALC in order to repatriate the belongings of one of Maranda's wife's to "country" which once agreed upon would be within the nearby National Park.

In accordance with the DEC Interim Community Consultation Requirements for Applicants 2005 as a provision of the *National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974:* Part 6 Approvals, the UFWA officers requested OEH to provide the list of all registered stakeholders in the relevant region associated with the development. UFWA officers then proceeded to provide a direct written notification to NTSCorp, Registrar of Aboriginal Owners, and all of the Aboriginal stakeholders listed in the OEH response letter dated 13th May 2013.

UFWA officers received expression of interest from two of the listed Aboriginal Stakeholders:

- Mr Lance Syme the chairperson of the Warrabinga Native Title Claimants Aboriginal Corporation; and
- Mr Bill Allen of the 'Murri' clan, part of the 'Wiradyri' people;

Both parties were briefed on the development project and the status of the current assessment, and the recommendations for additional surveys and consultation with the Registered Aboriginal Parties if the project is approved. The parties acknowledged inprincipal that further field survey and consultation should be undertaken once the final design of the project is available prior to construction.

1.5.2. Consultation During 2005 Assessment

Aboriginal Stakeholder consultation process during the 2005 assessment included A National Native Title Tribunal search that was lodged on 28th April 2005 that identified two native title claims within the Oberon Shire. Both claims NC96/36 and NC97/7 had been lodged by Gundungurra Tribal Council Aboriginal Corporation (GTCAC). ¹ An updated search of the online registers maintained by the National Native Tribunal was conducted on 25 October 2012 and indicated that these two claims remain current and have not yet been determined.

The consultation was undertaken in accordance with DEC "National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974: Part 6 Approvals Interim Community Consultation Requirements for Applicants."

¹ As identified in Section 1.5 of the "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005

Newspaper advertisement seeking Aboriginal stakeholder participation in the project were published in the following newspapers:

- Crookwell Gazette on 14th April 2005;
- Oberon Review on 14th April 2005; and
- Goulburn Post on 15th April 2005

Pejar Local Aboriginal Land Council (PLALC) and Gundungurra Tribal Council Aboriginal Corporation (GTCAC) both responded to these advertisements. Both were provided details of the project and participated in the field inspection of the study area which was undertaken in early June 2005. A copy of the draft report was forwarded to PLALC and GTCAC for review.

1.6. Legislative Requirements

1.6.1. Commonwealth Heritage Protection

The World Heritage List includes sites that are important to all the people of the world, irrespective of the territory in which they are located. Sites nominated for World Heritage listing are inscribed on the List only after carefully assessing whether they represent the best examples of the world's cultural and natural heritage. Sites on the World Heritage List are listed under the *Convention for the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage (1972).* No items included on the World Heritage List are located at the site or in the vicinity of the site. Accordingly, no assessment was required to be undertaken in relation to any such listed heritage items.

The Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth) (EPBC Act) establishes:

- the National Heritage List, which includes natural, indigenous and historic places that are of outstanding heritage value to the nation;
- the Commonwealth Heritage List, which comprises natural, indigenous and historic places on Commonwealth lands and waters or under Australian Government control, and identified by the Minister for the Environment, Heritage and the Arts as having Commonwealth Heritage values.

No items included on the National Heritage List or the Commonwealth Heritage List are located at the site or in the vicinity of the site. Accordingly, no assessment was required to be undertaken in relation to any such listed heritage items.

The Register of the National Estate lists places which are components of the natural environment of Australia or the cultural environment of Australia, that have aesthetic, historic, scientific or social significance or other special value for future generations as well as for the present community. The Register of the National Estate is maintained by the Australian Heritage Council under the *Australian Heritage Council Act 2003 (Cth)*. No items included on the Register of the National Estate are located at the site or in the vicinity of the site. Accordingly, no assessment was required to be undertaken in relation to any such listed heritage items.

1.6.2. New South Wales Non-Indigenous Heritage Protection

In NSW there are two types of statutory listings which afford protection to heritage items or places. A property is a heritage item if it is:

- listed in the heritage schedule of the relevant local council's Local Environmental Plan; or
- Iisted on the State Heritage Register maintained by the NSW Heritage Office under the Heritage Act (1977) (NSW).

No items listed under the Upper Lachlan or Oberon Local Environment Plans or the State Heritage Register are located within the site.

1.6.3. New South Wales Indigenous Heritage Protection

The National Parks and Wildlife Act (NPW Act) is the primary NSW legislation regulating the protection of Aboriginal heritage. DECCW administers the NPW Act. Part 6 of the NPW Act provides protection for Aboriginal objects and Aboriginal places. In particular, sections 87 and 90 of the NPW Act require an AHIP (Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permit) to be obtained to authorise the disturbance or destruction of Aboriginal objects. OEH maintains the Aboriginal Heritage Information Management System which contains information about known significant sites and objects that the NPWS manages or regulates. No items included on this register are located at the site or in the vicinity of the site. Accordingly, no assessment was required to be undertaken in relation to any such listed heritage items.

The key NSW legislation relating to the assessment of the Project is the EP&A Act. The Project is a transitional Part 3A project to which Part 3A of the EP&A Act continues to apply, despite its repeal. If the Project is granted project approval under Part 3A of the EP&A Act then section 75U of the EP&A Act will have the effect that a permit under section 90 of the NPW Act will not be required for the project.

However, the Director General's Assessment Requirements (DGRs) issued under Part 3A of the EP&A Act provide that:

...the EA must include an assessment of the potential impact of the project components on indigenous heritage values (archaeological and cultural). The EA must demonstrate effective consultation with indigenous stakeholders during the assessment and in developing mitigation options (including the final recommended measures) consistent with Guidelines for Aboriginal Cultural Impact Assessment and Community Consultation (DEC, July 2005).

Consistent with the requirements of the DGRs, this report assesses the potential impacts on indigenous heritage values. Consultation for the purpose of this assessment has been undertaken in accordance with the Guidelines for Aboriginal Cultural Impact Assessment and Community Consultation (DEC, July 2005).

A search of the AHIMS database did not record any additional sites on the subject land other than the information provided by Heritage Concepts, the results of which are referred to in the report and also in the Appendix C - Aboriginal Archaeological Sites (June 2005).

2. METHODOLOGY

2.1. Desktop Review

A desktop review, including searches of the databases and heritage lists referred to in section 1.6 of this report were undertaken. The previous survey undertaken in 2005 was also reviewed as background for the current survey.

2.2. Survey Methodology

The approach to this study has been the identification of areas in which Aboriginal Objects or artefacts are predicted to be located based on initial field assessments undertaken to determine the possible past use of the land by Aboriginal people based on the lands topographical, vegetation, sheltering and historical hunting resources. This is a practical land use approach which through the use of the results of artefact finds in the landscape predicts land use in a local area. This allows for an indication of potential underground artefact locations as generally only a small percentage of potential artefacts are found on the surface.

Once the areas in which artefacts were predicted to be located were determined, field surveys were undertaken. These field surveys involved the surveying of potential map landscape units by foot. The areas surveyed on foot were all of the sites for potential turbine locations as well as the 3 southern and 1 northern transmission line route options. Other landscape areas where there was a high potential to find artefacts were assessed.

This methodology provides a good coverage of the site. Movement and hunting/food gathering areas within the landscape as well as surveys of potential impact areas was undertaken. Generally movement and food resource corridors are located along creeklines and low flat areas where traverse is easy and water is available.

The site has previously been well surveyed by Heritage Concepts during 2005. In the draft Heritage Concepts (June 2005) report, the survey methodology is described as:

"Due to the large size of the study area, the survey was limited to areas of impact as defined by the current proposal. These included the locations of the forty-six wind turbine generators, three proposed sub-station locations and the access roads and cabling lines. All impact areas were subject to systematic survey on foot, although two cable routes were not inspected due to the nature of the topography. A targeted survey of 'high' potential areas was unfeasible given the limited information available about site types and locations within the immediate area. Instead, a full survey of the impact areas was undertaken as it was the only way to ensure that survey coverage was adequate. Additionally, given the paucity of information for the general area, any areas of higher ground surface visibility or of striking difference immediately adjacent to the impact areas were also inspected."²

During the survey undertaken during 2005 the drought was at its height and as such the soil exposure was high compared to the current survey following good rain.

Surveys for non-indigenous heritage involved a similar methodology to the indigenous heritage. This involved surveying the site for European artefacts and signs of early European settlement and farming/land management practices.

2.3. Limitations

Visibility was a limitation as most of the site was vegetated as a result of pasture improvement and general farming. This combined with the recent high rainfall has resulted in significant amounts of vegetation growth thus covering most of the areas of exposed soil which were present in the drought. This limited the area of ground that was visible for the detection of artefacts.

The background assessments identified areas where visibility was such that artefacts would be easily detected if they were present. These areas were based on landscape areas which generally have a higher probability of finding artefacts and as such the areas with good visibility were targeted.

The previous surveys, were undertaken by Heritage Concepts during 2005, at a time when the drought was very severe. As such the visibility during the 2005 surveys was very high as much of the vegetation had died leaving excellent levels of ground exposure and bare earth. Most of the areas where artefacts were detected by the 2005 survey were overgrown with vegetation during the present survey. As such, while these areas were re-surveyed during the current surveys, Ground Surface Visibility (GSV) was significantly impaired by the high levels of vegetation growth making detection of artefacts on the surface more difficult.

It is important to note that the survey, consultation and assessment that were carried out as part of the 2005 investigation, were in final draft format, and were not published. As such since that assessment had identified several sites, it is imperative that we include them in this assessment to ensure those results become official and included in the future Cultural Heritage Management Plans.

² Extract from Section 6.3 of the "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005

3. 2005 SURVEY RESULTS

Prior to the commencement of the current survey, a draft "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact" report was prepared in June 2005 by Heritage Concepts. Before the report could be finalised for publication, there were a number of changes to the proponent for the Project which delayed finalisation of the report. Heritage Concepts has since ceased its business operations, therefore the report was never finalised and published. However it is crucial to refer to, and list the sites that had been found during the 2005 assessment to ensure the identified sites are included in this Cultural Heritage Assessment and in the proposed post approval Cultural Heritage Management Plan for this Project.

This assessment accordingly makes references to the draft Heritage Concepts (June 2005) assessment, and a summary of the results of this assessment are discussed below.

The study areas are concentrated within the following locations:³

- Round Hill/ Mount Browne from the north eastern portion of the previously proposed development where a cluster of wind turbine generators were to be located along with the substation.
- Huttons Ridge runs essentially northwest-southeast; where the proposed cluster of wind turbine generators will be located and will be connected via several kilometres of access tracks and electrical cabling.
- Defiance Ridge runs essentially north-south; where the proposed large cluster of wind turbine generators; will be located and will be connected via several kilometres of access tracks and electrical cabling.

<u>Refer to Appendix C for a summary of the identified aboriginal archaeological sites identified</u> <u>during the surveys undertaken for the draft Heritage Concepts (June 2005) assessment.</u>

The draft Heritage Concepts (June 2005) assessment concluded that:

"The presence of the above 14 Aboriginal sites in the area confirms that this landscape was used and exploited by Aboriginal people. Although the survey has resulted in an increase in the number of recorded sites in the area, there remains no comprehensive framework in which to analyse and compare these sites. Some sites appear more complex than would be predicted for ridgeline occupation; others are located in areas which do not fit conventional models of 'attractive' site locations."⁴

³ Locations identified as per Section 6 of the "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005

⁴ Extract from Section 6.10 of the "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005

The following sites are the only sites detected in the 2005 surveys which occur near to proposed turbines and/or infrastructure:

- Site PYWF A11 located near Turbine P47
- Site PYWF A10 located near access track between turbines P45 and P46
- Site PYWF A7 located near access track between turbines P54 and P55.

These sites should be able to be avoided through micrositing however they will be again examined in detail in the future Cultural Heritage Management Plan prior to the construction phase.

<u>Refer to Appendix D for a summary of the non-indigenous heritage items identified and</u> <u>assessed in 2005</u>. The draft Heritage Concepts (June 2005) assessment concluded that:

"The historical use of the study area reflects the establishment of early rural settlements, the historic sites described above and each of the homesteads reflect the historical and continuing use of the study area for primary agricultural use." ⁵

⁵ Extract from Section 6.10 of the "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005

4. CURRENT SURVEY RESULTS

The results of the current field surveys detected 8 additional sites (based on landscape and topographical features), as having good potential for artefact finds, which are mapped on the plan in Appendix A.

4.1. Identified Sites

A total of 8 sites were detected during the current surveys. The details of each site and its contents are provided in Appendix B.

The general descriptions of each site are provided below. Locations are provided in the map in Appendix A.

4.1.1. SITE 1

Location: Towards the south-east boundary of the site, adjacent to a fenceline

UTM: 753324 (East), 6213813 (North)

Size: The size of this site was 8 metres by 6 metres.

<u>Contents</u>: The site contained a total of 8 stone fragments.

Description: The site occurs near a fenceline on a steep slope approximately 500 metres north of the Abercrombie River. The area is steep and was probably cleared due to the fenceline as the area to the south is vegetated.

<u>Archaeological Potential:</u> There is moderate potential for other artefacts below the surface in this location. The hillside location indicates that this site is not a permanent camp site. The levels of artefacts found indicate that this area was used as a transient site.

Site Significance

The site is considered to be of low significance due to the numbers and type of artefacts found. Pejar LALC have reviewed this assessment in draft form and agree with this assessment of significance.

This site would not be disturbed by the Project.

Site 1 Photographs



Site 1: Showing area along the fenceline where the artefacts were located.



Site 1: Artefacts found

4.1.2. SITE 2

Location: Downhill from site 1 along the cleared fenceline area.

UTM: 753404 (East), 6213730 (North)

<u>Size:</u> Small site of 5 metres diameter just downslope from Site 1.

<u>Contents</u>: A total of 4 artefacts were detected within this area. The artefacts were detected around the farm track (fenceline clearing).

Description: The site is small and the artefacts were detected in the cleared areas. The area is not far from Site 1 and as such it appears that this local area was used in conjunction with Site 1.

<u>Archaeological Potential</u>: It appears that this site was most likely used as a transient site due to the level and size of artefacts detected.

Site Significance

The site is considered to be of low significance due to the numbers and type of artefacts found. Pejar LALC reviewed this assessment in draft form and agree with this assessment of significance.

This site would not be disturbed by the Project.

Site 2 Photographs



Site 2: Showing the track where the artefacts were located.



Site 2: Artefacts found.

4.1.3. SITE 3

Location: This site occurs further downslope along the fenceline from Site 2. It occurs on slightly more level ground than sites 1 and 2.

UTM: 753580 (East), 6213637 (North)

Size: Small site approximately 15 metres in length by 4 metres in width.

<u>Contents</u>: A total of 6 artefacts were detected within this area. The artefacts were detected around the farm track (fenceline clearing).

Description: The site is located further downslope of site 2. It is located near the same fenceline running down the ridge.

<u>Archaeological Potential</u>: The archaeological potential of the site is likely to be low. It is in a similar topographical position to sites 1 and 2. The ground is stony and the potential for subsurface finds is low.

Site Significance

The site is considered to be of low significance due to the numbers and type of artefacts found. Pejar LALC reviewed this assessment in draft form and agree with this assessment of significance. This site would not be disturbed by the Project.
Site 3 Photographs



Site 3: Local Area



Site 3: Artefacts

4.1.4. SITE 4

Location: Top of a rise on the southern side of the Abercrombie River, outside the Project site boundary.

UTM: 753652 (East), 6213293 (North)

<u>Size:</u> The site was spread over an area of approximately 6 metres. Surveys beyond this area did not detect any further artefacts.

<u>Contents</u>: A total of 5 Artefacts were found at this site.

Description: This site is located on a small rise above the Abercrombie River on its southern side. It is amongst low woodland.

<u>Archaeological Potential</u>: This site is likely to be a transient site where a few tools had been repaired, made or modified.

Site Significance

The site is considered to be of low significance due to the numbers and type of artefacts found. Pejar LALC reviewed this assessment in draft form and agree with this assessment of significance. This site would not be disturbed by the Project.

Site 4 Photographs



Site 4: Local Area



Site 4: Artefacts

4.1.5. SITE 5

Location: This site is located on the southern side of the Abercrombie River on the lower eastern knoll near to "the racecourse", outside the Project site boundary.

UTM: 753678 (East), 6213172 (North)

Size: This site consists of a scatter of artefacts over an area with a radius of approx 20m.

<u>Contents</u>: One core and five flakes and two larger artefacts representing potentially wood shaping tools or part of a grinding stone.

Description: The site is located on the lower eastern knoll near to "the racecourse".

Archaeological Potential: The archaeological potential is generally low-moderate based on its location within the landscape. The wood shaping tools/grinding stone make this site more significant than sites with merely stone flakes as it shows a potentially broader range of use either at this site or nearby.

Artefacts would tend to be on top of the soil as the soil type is stony and artefacts would not tend to be covered by erosion or sink into the soil.

Site Significance

The site is considered to be of moderate significance due to the numbers and type of artefacts found and the highly modified environment. Pejar LALC reviewed this assessment in draft form and agree with this assessment of significance. This site would not be impacted by the current proposal.

Site 5 Photographs



Site 5: Local Area



Site 5: Artefact Photos

4.1.6. SITE 6

Location: Top of a hill approximately 800 metres south-west from Site 5.

UTM: 753178 (East), 6212544 (North)

<u>Size</u>: A large site which appears to have been used often both by aboriginal people and also by early settlers as sheep yards.

<u>Contents</u>: A total of 35 various flakes and cores.

Description: On the top of a hill approximately 800 metres south-west from Site 5. It has a level northerly aspect with a large gully on the eastern side. Potentially a site where hunters would gather to spear Kangaroos as other hunters roused them from "the racecourse" area below. It represents a potential camp site. A pair of old sheep shearing shears were also found indicating European use of this site in early farming history.

<u>Archaeological Potential</u>: The archaeological potential is generally moderate based on its location within the landscape. Although a reasonable number of artefacts were detected the soil is stony and artefacts would not tend to be covered by erosion or sink into the soil.

Site Significance

The site is considered to be of moderate to high significance due to the numbers and type of artefacts found. It has the potential to have been a camp site and/or hunting site. Pejar LALC reviewed this assessment in draft form and agree with this assessment of significance. This site would not be disturbed by the Project.

Site 6 Photographs



Site 6: Local Area



Site 6: Artefacts

4.1.7. SITE 7

Location: Towards the South-Western Side of the Paling Yards property boundary.

UTM: 750265 (East), 6214056 (North)

<u>Size:</u> This site represents a small site where only one core and Backblade were found. It is an area of approximately 10 metres in diameter.

<u>Contents</u>: One Core and Backblade only.

Description: This site is located on the south-western side of Paling Yards property. It is approximately 15 metres north of the fenceline which separates the paddock from the forest area on the southern side of the site. It is located within open paddock.

<u>Archaeological Potential</u>: This site had moderate Ground Surface Visibility however there is good potential for artefacts in the locality of this site which were not visible.

Site Significance

The site is considered to be of moderate significance due to the numbers and type of artefacts found. Pejar LALC reviewed this assessment in draft form and agree with this assessment of significance. This site would not be impacted by the current proposal.

Site 7 Photographs



Site 7: Local Area.



Site 7: Core and Backblade

4.1.8. SITE 8

Location: Approximately 3 km north of Site 7, in the west side of Paling Yards property boundary.

UTM: 751514 (East), 6217053 (North)

Size: Site size is approximately 100 metres by 80 metres.

<u>Contents</u>: A total of 55 artefacts were located. These ranged from cores to flakes and debitage.

Description: This site represents the top of a gully. It represents a potential hunting position. It is likely it could have been used as a temporary camp site. There are a good number of artefacts present.

<u>Archaeological Potential</u>: This is a moderate quality site with high number of artefacts found. The items were found readily on the surface. There is some potential for artefacts to be present below the soils surface in this location due to the soil type present.

The site is near the proposed turbine location 31. However, any impacts should be able to be avoided as the proposed turbine and access track do not fall within the site 8 area.

Site Significance

The site is considered to be of moderate significance due to the numbers and type of artefacts found. Pejar LALC reviewed the draft report and agrees with this assessment of significance.

Site 8 Photographs



Site 8: Local Area.



Site 8: Artefacts.

5. DISCUSSION AND SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT

5.1. Assessment of Significance Categories

NPWS (1997) defines significance as relating to the meaning of sites: "meaning is to do with the values people put on things, places, sites, land". The ICOMOS Burra Charter and NSW Department of Urban Affairs and Planning's 'State Heritage Inventory Evaluation Criteria and Management Guidelines' also define assessment criteria and significance. The assessment of Aboriginal significance is provided for under the guidelines from DEC – DEC Guidelines for Aboriginal Heritage Impact Assessment (2005).

Aboriginal archaeological sites are assessed under the following categories of significance;

- cultural value;
- research potential/archaeological value;
- > aesthetic value;
- representativeness;
- educational value;

5.1.1. Aboriginal cultural significance

Aboriginal people value their cultural heritage and links with past ancestral use. The value of a place is determined by its history and significance with the local Aboriginal people.

5.1.2. Research Potential/Archaeological value

The research potential of a site relates somewhat to its archaeological value. Recently research is being evaluated in relation to the broader cultural life of Aboriginal people in the landscape. A broader sense of Aboriginal cultural heritage significance is usually examined in relation to the research potential of a site. Usually research potential is related to the potential for large numbers of artefacts of high quality and diverse nature often below the surface.

5.1.3. Representativeness

Representative value is the degree to which a "class of sites are conserved and whether the particular site being assessed should be conserved in order to ensure that we retain a representative sample of the archaeological record as a whole" (NPWS 1997). Factors defined by NPWS (1997) for assessing sites in terms of representativeness include defining variability, knowing what is already conserved and considering the connectivity of sites.

5.1.4. Educational value

The educational value of a site relates to Aboriginal cultural heritage. The educational value of sites and artefacts is highly important to local Aboriginal communities and often artefacts are kept for teaching purposes. In regard to development applications often artefacts that will be impacted are removed from site or moved to another part of the site.

5.1.5. Aesthetic value

Aesthetic value relates to the visual appreciation of Aboriginal cultural heritage items. This value is usually in relation to rock art and highly significant cultural items such as ceremonial sites and tree scars.

5.2. Assessment of Significance

5.2.1. Non-Indigenous Heritage

The State Heritage Register, which was established by the amendments to the NSW Heritage Act in 1999, has a separate set of significance assessment criteria broadly based on those of the Burra Charter.⁶

A place or object has 'heritage significance' if it satisfies, except in very special circumstances, at least two of the following heritage significance criteria:

(a) an item is important in the course, or pattern, of NSW's cultural or natural history;

(b) an item has strong or special association with the life or works of a person, or group of persons, of importance in NSW's cultural or natural history;

(c) an item is important in demonstrating aesthetic characteristics and/or a high degree of creative or technical achievement in NSW;

(d) an item has strong or special association with a particular community or cultural group in NSW for social, cultural or spiritual reasons;

(e) an item has potential to yield information that will contribute to an understanding of NSW's cultural or natural history;

(f) an item possesses uncommon, rare or endangered aspects of NSW's cultural or natural history;

(g) an item is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of NSW's, cultural or natural places; or cultural or natural environments.

⁶ Extract from Section 7.4 of the "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005

The non-indigenous heritage items located within the site which were detected in the 2005 surveys (see Appendix D for more detail) include: 'Stillwell Burial Ground', 'Stockyards', 'Steam Boiler', 'Mingary Park airstrip', 'Quobleigh basalt chimney and plantings'.

The Historic Cultural heritage values of the study area is assessed by the draft Heritage Concepts (June 2005) report, the results are shown in detail in Appendix D.

None of these items would be impacted by the proposal. The current survey detected no additional non-indigenous heritage items. As such the proposed wind farm would not impact on any Non-indigenous heritage items.

5.2.2. Indigenous Heritage

The targeted surveys revealed that indigenous artefacts were not at high levels within the study site. The artefacts that do exist within the landscape are distributed generally near the ridge lines and small rises in the country. This may be for hunting purposes when Kangaroos were herded up the gullies where hunters were waiting with spears. These locations also represent good camp sites as, due to their location, they may have been sheltered from the elements, whilst being clear enough to facilitate easier camping/living.

The targeted surveys involved surveys of areas which were identified as being potentially impacted by the Project. The proposed activity areas for the access roads and transmission line route options (as described at section 1.4 of this report) had been identified on a map only and had not been pegged when the targeted surveys were carried out. Accordingly, the targeted surveys examined the indicative areas of the access roads and transmission line route options only. This is a limitation of the surveys undertaken, and as such, additional pre-commissioning surveys would be required to further examine these areas prior to construction. The proposed turbines are generally located in disturbed paddock environments, most of which have been cultivated.

The sites detected generally represent sites of relatively low usage due to the type and number of artefacts detected. Sites within this landscape with high levels of use would be generally located close to water (within 500 metres) as water is the limiting factor for campsites and landscape usage.

Surveys along the river where the assessed transmission line route would have traverse, were undertaken. No sites were detected within these areas however ground surface visibility was very low due to recent rainfall and high levels of vegetation growth. Generally sites within such river systems are difficult to detect as most artefacts are not present on the surface due to the levels of erosion as a result of peak flows during flooding.

<u>Sites 1-3</u>

Sites 1 to 3 are examined as one site as they are in very close proximity to each other along the fence line. The levels of artefacts were generally low on each of the sites as previously discussed. Due to the topography, artefact types and the distance from water via easy walking, these sites do not represent any form of permanent site such as campsites. They represent transitory sites where tools may have been made or repaired. Due to the stony nature of the soil where these sites occur there is limited potential for subsurface material. These sites are likely to have been used when passing through the area. They are not considered to be significant sites and will not be impacted by the proposal.

<u>Site 4</u>

This site represents a small site on the southern side of the Abercrombie River in woodland on a small rise. It contained one core and three flakes and would have been used as a transitory site where some tools would have been made and/or repaired. It does not represent a highly significant site and would be avoided by the proposal. Searches within the locality of the site did not detect any more artefacts and due to the stony nature of the soil it is unlikely that there are significant amounts of artefacts beneath the soil surface. This site would not be impacted by the proposal.

Site 5

This site is located on the southern side of the Abercrombie River on the lower eastern knoll near to "the racecourse". One core and five flakes along with two large artefacts representing potentially wood shaping tools or part of a grinding stone and one smaller flake were detected at this site. The archaeological potential is generally low-moderate based on its location within the landscape. The wood shaping tools/grinding stone make this site more significant than sites with merely stone flakes.

Artefacts would tend to be on top of the soil as the soil type is stony and artefacts would not tend to be covered by erosion or sink into the soil. Searches were undertaken within the locality of this site after these artefacts were found to determine if there were any other artefacts occurring within the local area around the sites. The searches did not detect any further artefacts.

The soil type is very stony within these areas and the ground surface visibility was moderate. As such it is unlikely that there are significant numbers of artefacts which were not detected around this site. It would appear that the site was used as a transitory site which is likely to have included activities such as hunting and tool repair and manufacture. This site is indicative of the broader use of the landscape by the aboriginal people and the whole area along the Abercrombie River would have been utilised due to its relatively permanent water. This site would not be impacted by the proposal.

Site 6

This site occurs on top of a hill approximately 800 metres south-west from Site 5. The site has a level northerly aspect with a large gully on the eastern side. It is potentially a site where hunters would gather to spear Kangaroos as other hunters roused them from "the

racecourse" area below funnelling them up the gullyline. A pair of old sheep shearing shears were also found indicating European use of this site in early farming history.

The site represents an interesting site as there were a relatively high number of artefacts detected (35 various flakes and cores). It appears to have been used as a hunting and/or camp site and as such has moderate significance. Due to its location in the landscape it was also found to be a suitable site for European settlers to potentially create a holding paddock for sheep and may have been used as a shearing area. The archaeological potential is generally moderate based on its location within the landscape. Although a reasonable number of artefacts were detected the soil is stony and artefacts would not tend to be covered by erosion or sink into the soil. This site would not be impacted by the Project.

Site 7

Site 7 represents a small site and contained one core and backblade only. Ground surface visibility at the site was generally medium and the site is not considered significant. There is potential for more artefacts in the local area below surface vegetation. The site would not be impacted by the Project.

<u>Site 8</u>

A total of 55 artefacts were detected at this site. These ranged from cores to flakes and debitage with the site itself occurring at the top of a gully. It represents a potential camp and/or hunting position. This is a moderate quality site with a high number of artefacts found. The items were found readily on the surface. There is some potential for artefacts to be present below the soils surface in this location due to the soil type present. The site is near the proposed turbine location 31. However, any impacts on this site should be able to be avoided as the proposed turbines and access road do not fall within the site 8 area.

The site has the same aspect of sites 6 and 7 and is located in the same topographical location being at the head of a gully. As such the location and similarities between these sites indicate that the usage may be related to camping and/or hunting.

5.3. Summary

5.3.1. Non-Indigenous Heritage

There are no listed non-indigenous heritage items which would be impacted by the proposal. The non-indigenous heritage items within the site are not included on any heritage list or register and are not considered to be significant heritage items as they are typical items present on farms in the local district. These items were identified in the 2005 surveys and are listed in Appendix D. None of these identified non-indigenous heritage items would be impacted by the proposal.

5.3.2. Indigenous Heritage

Each of the 8 sites identified in the current surveys are considered to be of some cultural significance to the local Pejar LALC. Comments from Pejar LALC have been received based on the draft report and they agree with the assessments of significance for the sites detected, **refer to Appendix F for copy of letter from Pejar LALC**. The study of these sites contributes to the local knowledge of the occupation of the land by Aboriginal people both at a local and regional scale.

The study area has been extensively disturbed by farming and clearing since European occupation. Generally impacts can be avoided for all of these sites. Further surveys will however be necessary to examine in more detail the routes for the medium voltage underground cabling between each of the turbines as these were not pegged at the time of survey and more detailed surveys will be required prior to construction.

The sites detected in the 2005 surveys are provided in Appendix C. The following sites detected in the 2005 surveys occur near to proposed turbines and/or infrastructure:

- Site PYWF A11 located near Turbine P47;
- Site PYWF A10 located near access track between turbines P45 and P46;
- Site PYWF A7 located near access track between turbines P54 and P55.

These sites should be able to be avoided through micrositing however they will be again examined in detail in the future Cultural Heritage Management Plan prior to the construction phase. From the results of the 2005 surveys PYWF 11 would be the most significant site based on current information.

6. IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1. Summary

6.1.1. Non-Indigenous Heritage

There would be no impacts on any non-indigenous heritage items. The items are well outside any proposed development areas. In any case the heritage significance of these items is low and they are typical items that can be found on many farms in the local area. These items are not listed on any heritage register including the NSW State Heritage Register.

6.1.2. Indigenous Heritage

This study has identified 8 locations from the current survey where artefacts occur. On the basis of the surveys undertaken it would appear that the sites detected represent transient sites, camps and/or hunting sites. None of the sites detected are likely to be impacted by the proposal and as such there are unlikely to be any impacts on aboriginal cultural heritage values. Further assessment will be required once the routes for the medium voltage underground cabling between turbines are pegged prior to commencement of construction so any new sites which are found could be avoided through micrositing or managed in consultation with Pejar LALC.

The sites detected in the 2005 surveys are provided in Appendix C. The following sites detected in the 2005 surveys occur near to proposed turbines and/or infrastructure:

- Site PYWF A11 located near Turbine P47;
- Site PYWF A10 located near access track between turbines P45 and P46;
- Site PYWF A7 located near access track between turbines P54 and P55.

These sites should be able to be avoided through micrositing however they will be again examined in detail in the future Cultural Heritage Management Plan prior to the construction phase. From the results of the 2005 surveys PYWF 11 would be the most significant site based on current information.

7. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

It is recommended that the detailed design of the Project aims to avoid, as far as practicable impacts on the known archaeological sites.

It is recommended that a comprehensive Cultural Heritage Management Plan be prepared in consultation and collaboration with the Registered Aboriginal Parties to reduce and mitigate the impacts of the project on any objects / artefacts which may be detected within disturbance zones. If it is not practicable to locate infrastructure so as avoid objects / artefacts then co-operation with the Registered Aboriginal Parties should be undertaken to determine the management option for these objects / artefacts (i.e. collection for education purposes or moving the objects / artefacts slightly to outside the zone of disturbance).

The movement of identified objects is considered to be likely to be a suitable mitigation measure in most cases as the distances involved would not be significant, and many of the objects may have been moved in the past via water movement, erosion or vehicle/tractor movements such as road grading and cultivation of the ground.

The Cultural Heritage Management Plan should also outline management strategies for the management of any potential unrecorded sites which are identified within the site during construction of the Project. In accordance with the Draft NSW Wind Farm Planning Guidelines, the construction program control measures should include provision to temporarily halt the excavation of a specific site in the event that a previously unidentified Aboriginal object(s) and historic relic is uncovered. All works likely to affect the object/relic should cease and the OEH officers and the registered Aboriginal stakeholder notified. Works should not recommence at the specific site until an appropriate strategy for managing the object/relic has been determined in consultation with OEH and the Aboriginal stakeholders and a permit or written authorization has been obtained from OEH.

If impacts to any further sites which are identified cannot be avoided then further investigation would be required in consultation with the Registered Aboriginal Parties and OEH. This would include sub-surface digs and analysis.

As the detailed design of the proposed access tracks and electrical connections were not available at the time the field surveys were conducted, and potential deviations to the surveyed routes may be made during detailed design to reduce impact(s) on the land.

Once the proposed access track extents and other disturbance areas are pegged on the ground, additional targeted surveys of these areas should be undertaken. Where these additional targeted surveys identify any further sites, test pits should be undertaken in order to determine the extent of significance of any sites which would be potentially impacted.

The final micrositing of the proposed infrastructure should be undertaken in consideration of utilising and upgrading as much as possible the existing farm access tracks where possible to achieve an overall site plan which minimises unnecessary new soil disturbance.

8. **REFERENCES**

Aslanides, T. And Stuart, J. 1983, Goulburn and Environs: A Comprehensive Guide. Olive Press, Canberra.

Australia ICOMOS 1999. Australia ICOMOS Charter for the Conservation of Places of Cultural Significance (the Burra Charter), revised edition, Australia ICOMOS, Canberra.

Biosis Research 2004. Indigenous and Non Indigenous Archaelogical Assessment of the proposed Crookwell 2 Wind Farm.

Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act (1999).

Flood, J. 1980. The Moth Hunters. Australian Institute of Aboriginal Studies, Canberra.

Flood, J., 1999. Archaeology of the dreamtime: the story of prehistoric Australia and its people (revised edition), Angus and Robertson, Sydney.

Fuller, N., 1989. Goulburn City – An Archaeological Investigation of Aboriginal Site Location, Anutech Pty Ltd.

Heritage Concepts (June 2005). Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological Assessment and Statement of Heritage Impact – Paling Yard Wind Farm, prepared for Parsons Brinkerhoff (contract for assessment initiated by Gamesa Energy Australia and TME Australia)

Hird, C. 1991. Soil Landscapes of the Goulburn 1:250 000 Sheet, Soil Conservation Service of NSW, Sydney.

McDonald, R.C., Isbell, R.F., Speight, J.G., Walker, J.H and Hopkins, M.S., 1984. Australian Soil and Land Survey Field Handbook. Inkata Press, Melbourne.

McDonald, J and Garling, S., 1997. The proposed Crookwell Wind Farm: Test Excavation Report, Report to Pacific Power.

NSW Government (Environment, Climate Change and Water). Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Consultation Requirements for Proponents 2010.

NPWS 1997. National Parks and Wildlife Service "Guidelines for Archaeological Survey Reporting (working draft), Cultural Heritage Services Division, Sydney.

Tracey, J.L. (2008). Upper Lachlan Shire Community Heritage Study 2007-2008. A report prepared for Upper Lachlan Shire Council.

Page Intentionally Left Blank

APPENDIX A – Site Maps

Page Intentionally Left Blank



Page Intentionally Left Blank

APPENDIX B – Site and Artefact Information

P1 75 P1 75 P1 75 P1 75	Zone-55 3324 3324 3324 3324 3324	MGA / Zone-55 6213813 6213813	Chip		1
P1 75 P1 75	3324 3324		-	Grey Silcrete	20x20x6
			Chip	Grey Silcrete	18x12x4
P1 75	2224	6213813	Chip	Grey Silcrete	20x10x5
	3324	6213813	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	40x12x6
P1 75	3324	6213813	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	35x26x9
P1 75	3324	6213813	Debitage	Grey Silcrete	18x18x8
P1 75	3324	6213813	Core Flake	Grey Silcrete	45x35x15
	3324	6213813	Flake	Grey Silcrete	40x35x12
		0210010			
P2 75	3404	6213730	Core	Grey Silcrete	60x52x25
P2 75	3404	6213730	Debitage from Core	Grey Silrete	45x48x22
P2 75	3404	6213730	Flake	Grey Silcrete	28x23x6
P2 75	3404	6213730	Chip	Grey Silcrete	26x21x9
P3 75	3580	6213637	Flake	Grey Silcrete	28x25x12
P3 75	3580	6213637	Flake retouch	Grey Silcrete	30x30x14
P3 75	3580	6213637	Core Chip	Grey Silcrete	20x18x14
P3 75	3580	6213637	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	18x23x10
P3 75	3580	6213637	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	24x18x11
P3 75	3580	6213637	Flake	Grey Silcrete	24x12x8
P4 75	3652	6213293	Chip	Grey Silcrete	20x20x8
P4 75	3652	6213293	Chip	Grey Silcrete	23x19x7
P4 75	3652	6213293	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25x12x7
P4 75	3652	6213293	Flake with retouch	Grey Silcrete	26x22x12
P4 75	3652	6213293	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25x26x11
P5 75	3678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	15X8X4
P5 75	3678	6213172	Possible Grinding Stone	Sandstone	100X100X80
P5 75	3678	6213172	Possible Grinding Bowl or Shaping Tool	Sandstone	180X120X75
P5 75	3678	6213172	Core	Grey Silcrete	45X35X28
P5 75	3678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	22X12X5
P5 75	3678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	28X16X6
P5 75	3678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	14X9X5
P5 75	3678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	17X12X4
P6 75	3178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	40X30X6
	3178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	30X20X8
	3178	6212544	Flake		35X25X7
				Grey Silcrete	
	3178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X17X5
	3178	6212544	Core	Brown Silcrete	45X40X16
	3178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X14X4
	3178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	30X23X9
P6 75	3178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	42X30X7

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X20X4
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	32X30X15
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	35X30X7
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X16X4
P6	753178	6212544	Flake retouch	Grey Silcrete	38X23X6
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	15X12X3
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X20X5
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X20X4
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	12X10X3
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	12X10X3
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	40X18X7
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	26X29X7
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	24X22X6
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X23X5
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	19X21X4
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	16X17X3
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	24X22X6
P6	753178	6212544	Flake retouch	Grey Silcrete	35X30X14
P6	753178	6212544	Core Fragment	Grey Silcrete	30X27X7
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X25X5
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	16X12X4
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X26X6
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	16X18X12
P6	753178	6212544	Chip	Grey Silcrete	10X10X3
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	42X38X14
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	33X25X12
P6	753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	22X17X8
P7	750265	6214056	Core	Breciated Silcrete	41X23X12
P7	750265	6214056	Backblade	Grey Silcrete	30X10X4
P8	751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	35X40X11
P8	751514	6217053	Flake Retouch	Quartz	38X43X8
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	18X23X6
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	18X14X4
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	25X23X7
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X24X9
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	38X28X12
P8	751514	6217053	Retouch Flake	Grey Silcrete	33X12X7
P8	751514	6217053	Broken flake	Grey Silcrete	30X15X6
P8	751514	6217053	Flake/Chip	Grey Silcrete	31X14X4
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	20X20X7
P8	751514	6217053	Flake Broken	Grey Silcrete	21X22X8
P8	751514	6217053	Flake Broken	Grey Silcrete	21X10X3
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Silcrete	18X17X8
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	35X28X12

Site	Easting UTM-X	Northing UTM-Y	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P8	MGA / Zone-55 751514	MGA / Zone-55 6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	12X11X5
P8			Flake	Grey Silcrete	
P8	751514 751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Silcrete	21X12X7 26X14X4
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	34X28X9
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	37X18X10
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	,	
P8	751514		Flake	Grey Silcrete Grey Silcrete	17X12X7 34X22X12
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	,	14X15X4
			Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	
P8	751514	6217053		Grey Silcrete	17X17X9
P8	751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X17X12
P8	751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X19X7
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	23X26X7
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Chert	32X21X9
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	32X29X9
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	10X10X5
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X15X4
P8	751514	6217053	Flaked Chip	Grey Silcrete	26X14X7
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Silcrete	37X34X14
P8	751514	6217053	Flake/Scraper	Grey Silcrete	41X35X14
P8	751514	6217053	Flake/retouched	Grey Silcrete	36X25X9
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	17X14X4
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	39X23X12
P8	751514	6217053	Flake Tool	Grey Silcrete	55X39X19
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	12X10X5
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	18X15X7
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Silcrete	23X18X9
P8	751514	6217053	Flake retouched	Grey Silcrete	29X23X12
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	10X10X6
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X12X7
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X18X8
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	10X14X8
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	15X12X5
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	28X17X9
P8	751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X18X11
P8	751514	6217053	Broken Flake with retouch	Grey Silcrete	45X28X17
P8	751514	6217053	Broken Flake Tool	Grey Silcrete	28X29X11
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	12X18X7
P8	751514	6217053	Flake broken	Grey Silcrete	22X14X9
P8	751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	15X17X11
P8	751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X16X11

Page Intentionally Left Blank

APPENDIX C – Aboriginal Archaeological Sites (June 2005)

A total of 14 Aboriginal sites were recorded as part of the previous assessment during the 2005 surveys⁷ by Heritage Concepts for the previous design of the proposed Paling Yards wind farm with a similar turbine layout. The identified sites and descriptions of that survey are summarised and tabulated as below:

Site ID	Coordinates MGA (Zone 55)	Coordinates AMG (Zone 55)	Location	Description
PYWF A1	759994 E 6221439 N	759882 E / 6221255N	Round Hill Mount Browne	 Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. A natural milky quartz outcrop with 45 artefacts was identified on a ridgeline spur to SE of Mount Browne. High Archaeological Potential for further subsurface Aboriginal cultural material to be present on this landform. Location is predicted to be within the footprint of the substation.
PYWF A2	759945 E 6221402 N	759833 E / 6221218N	Round Hill Mount Browne	 Isolated find and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Located 57m from PYWF A1. A single piece of milky quartz debitage) was identified in an area of soil disturbance.
PYWF A3	759902 E 6221398 N	759790 E / 6221214N	Round Hill Mount Browne	 Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Located 25m southwest of PYWF A2. Five artefacts were identified on the soil surface, including two milky quartz artefacts and three silcrete artefacts. High Archaeological Potential for further subsurface Aboriginal cultural material to be present on this landform.
PYWF A4	757662 E 6221944 N	757550 E / 6221760N	Round Hill Mount Browne	 Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Artefacts were identified on a gentle slope SW adjacent to Brothers Creek. Site consists of 15 artefacts, including 10 milky quartz artefacts; and 5 on brecciated chert. Site is within 50m of the access road and there is high potential for subsurface Aboriginal cultural material to be present within the area.

⁷ Survey results as per Section 6 of the "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005

Site ID	Coordinates MGA (Zone 55)	Coordinates AMG (Zone 55)	Location	Description
PYWF A5	757626 E 6221346 N	757514 E / 6221162 N	Round Hill/ Mount Browne	Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Located on a small elevated northeast / southwest running ridge with drainage channels on each side. Several milky quartz nodules were found degrading out from an area measuring 15m x 5m along the ridge. There is high potential for subsurface Aboriginal cultural material to be present within the area.
PYWF A6	757448 E 6221055 N	757336 E / 6220871 N	Round Hill/ Mount Browne	Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Located on a level, gentle rise approximately 200m SW of Brothers Creek. Identified in a highly disturbed area within a graded fire trail. It is likely that the high level of disturbance had brought artefacts from the lower stratigraphic units to the surface and that further material is present below the surface in the area. There is high potential for subsurface Aboriginal cultural material to be present within the area.
PYWF A7	757598 E 6218635 N	757486 E / 6218451 N	Huttons Ridge	Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Located in a saddle which is an east access point between Middle Station Creek and Manus Creek catchment areas. Site contains of 6 silcrete artefacts located in an area of high visibility associated with stock movements through a gate. Site is within the location proposed for wind turbine generator.
PYWF A8	756951 E 6219144 N	756839 E / 6218960 N	Huttons Ridge	Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Located on a dirt access road and adjacent land within the Mingary Park Farm. Site is on a gentle slope within a closed catchment area. A total of 13 artefacts were recorded at site; including artefacts manufactured from chert, brecciated chert and quartz. There is high potential for subsurface Aboriginal cultural material to be present within the area. Site is not within an area to be impacted by the proposed development.

Site ID	Coordinates MGA (Zone 55)	Coordinates AMG (Zone 55)	Location	Description
PYWF A9	754263 E 6219842 N	754151 E / 6219658 N	Defiance Ridge	Isolated find. Site was within a dam embankment wall and consisted of a coarse-grained silcrete piece. This is in an area of high disturbance with heavy earthworks and active stock visitation having churned the soil. The artefact is not in primary context and given the close proximity to sit PYWF A10. It is likely that that this artefact represents a displaced outlier from PYWF A10.
				There is no potential for Aboriginal cultural material to be present within the area.
PYWF A10	754590 E 6219992 N	754478 E / 6219808 N	Defiance Ridge	Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Site is located on the saddle of a ridgeline. 8 artefacts were identified in the area. The area has been cleared and used as pasture and disturbance within this area is quite high disturbance. There is high potential for Aboriginal cultural material to be present within the area; and site is within the impact footprint of the current proposal.
PYWF A11	754663 E 6220543 N	754551 E / 6220359 N	Defiance Ridge	Open Camp Site and Potential Aboriginal Deposit. Site is a complex open camp site situated on the level crests of north west branching spur from the main Defiance Ridge Line. Artefacts were identified across most of the level surface over an area of 92m x 76m. With an overall area of 6992m2; and if the site has a constant density of 16 artefacts /m2; there would be nearly 112,000 artefacts on the surface. There is high potential for Aboriginal cultural material to be present within the area; and site is within the impact footprint of the current proposed development.

Site ID	Coordinates MGA (Zone 55)	Coordinates AMG (Zone 55)	Location	Description
PYWF A12	752349 E 6216848 N	752237 E / 6216664 N	Defiance Ridge	Quarry A silcrete quarry was identified across a gully approximately 700m west of the proposed Wind Turbine Generators (B5, B6 and B7); the quarry is natural outcrop of silcrete with small amounts of associated grey chert and quartz, which has been exploited as a raw material source. Site has low potential for archaeological material to be present within this area, given the lack of observable surface indications such as an associated knapping floor. Site is also not within the impact area of the proposal.
PYWF A13	752157 E 6216138 N	752045 E / 6215954 N	Defiance Ridge	Isolated fine/ Open Camp Site. Site is situated on a level area east of a windbreak. Site consisted of an isolated chert flake identified in a cleared paddock. Approximately 40m south of this flake was a historical stone cairn; where a chert manuport and a chert core were found. There is moderate –low potential the further sub-surface Aboriginal cultural material will be present in this location Site is adjacent to the impact area associated with the proposed wind turbine.
PYWF A14	752133 E 6216318 N	752021 E / 6216134 N	Defiance Ridge	Open Camp Site & Potential Aboriginal Deposit. 2 coarse grained silcrete flakes were identified in a stock socir at a gate to the south of wind turbine generator B3. Site is located on a level area of ridge top which has been cleared and converted to pasture. The site was visible in an area of high disturbance and although it is likely that further cultural material may be present at this site, the integrity of any such material is likely to be low. There is moderate potential the further sub- surface Aboriginal cultural material will be present in this location. Site is not within the direct impact area of the proposed works.

Stone Tools predominately found of Silcrete, Quartz and Chert.

APPENDIX D – Historic Cultural Sites (June 2005)

A total of 5 historic cultural heritage sites were recorded as part of the previous assessment during the 2005 surveys⁸ by Heritage Concepts for the previous design of the proposed Paling Yards wind farm with a similar turbine layout. The identified sites and descriptions of that survey are summarised and tabulated as below:

Site ID	Coordinates MGA (Zone 55)	Coordinates AMG (Zone 55)	Location	Description
PYWF H15	758135 E 6221597 N	758023 E / 6221416 N	Round Hill / Mount Browne	Stillwell Burial Ground. Located on a gentle slope overlooking the "Hilltop" access road is the property cemetery. This small private burial ground is unfenced and has simple grave markers to designate the burials. Members of the Stillwell family are buried here. The cemetery lies immediately below wind turbine generator B46 and is within the immediate environs of cabling which is proposed to connect B46 to the rest of the wind farm.
PYWF H16	757673 E 6222067 N	757561 E / 6221883 N	Round Hill / Mount Browne	Stockyards. Located along the Hilltop access road adjacent to the property boundary within the Goulburn-Oberon Road. It is unclear when the stockyards were constructed, but they appear to be several decades old. Site is adjacent to the access road and cabling route proposed to connect the wind turbine generators.
PYWF H17	757629 E 6221804 N	757517 E / 6221620 N	Round Hill / Mount Browne	Steam Boiler. A derelict steam boiler is located adjacent to Brothers Creek. It was originally used to drive a steam locomotion at a sawmill north of the study area. It is not within the impact area of the current proposal.

Location of Historic Cultural Heritage Sites

⁸ Sites as identified in section 7.5 of "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005

Site ID	Coordinates MGA (Zone 55)	Coordinates AMG (Zone 55)	Location	Description
PYWF H18	756872 E 6219718 N	756760 E / 6219534 N	Huttons Ridge	Mingary Park Airstrip. Built in 1950s and is a basic runway constructed of compacted earth following the natural incline of the site; site is currently used as pasture- it appears that the airstrip is no longer in use. It is not within the impact area of the current proposal.
PYWF H19	752780 E 6217596 N	752668 E / 6217412 N	Defiance Ridge	Quobleigh basalt chimney & plantings. Site represents the remains of an early homestead site. The main house structure has been destroyed, with the only evidence of the location being a mortared basalt chimney, some flagging stones and garden features.

Statement of Significance for the Historical Cultural Heritage Sites⁹

Stillwell Burial Ground (PYWF H15)

Criterion A: An item is important in the course, or pattern, of NSW's cultural or natural history

The Stillwell's have lived in the area since the mid 1850s and represent a continuing family tradition of living, working and dying on the land. The burial ground is a physical representation of the Stillwell family's presence in the area, from initial settlement till now. Although the early graves are unmarked, it is likely that several early pioneers of the area are buried in the cemetery. Although not a formalised, bounded burial ground, the cemetery reflects the rural use of the land and the farming families which have worked the area for generations.

Criterion C: An item is important in demonstrating aesthetic characteristics and/or a high degree of creative or technical achievement in NSW

⁹ Extract from Section 7.5 of the "Aboriginal and Historic Archaeological & Statement of Heritage Impact (Heritage Concepts) June 2005
Stillwell Burial Ground (PYWF H15)

The burial ground is located adjacent to the alignment of the original Goulburn-Oberon road and would have been a feature known to many within the area. It's current location, while encapsulating the rural aesthetic, is tucked away, and the public aspect of access and viewing has been lost. The landscape value of the area remains strong, however, and the setting, aspect and views to and from the burial ground reiterate the agricultural nature of the Stillwell family.

Criterion D: An item has strong or special association with a particular community or cultural group in NSW for social, cultural or spiritual reasons

The burial ground is of immense significance to the Stillwell and Maloney families. There have been interments since the property was occupied, with some in the last five years, the burial ground is an active place of contemplation and remembrance. In addition, the site provides a focus to the local community. Given the small and interdependent nature of small farming communities, it is likely that most people in the area grew up with and knew people buried at this site.

Criterion G: An item is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of NSW's cultural or natural places; or cultural or natural environments.

The burial ground is representative of private burial lots on rural properties.

Statement of significance:

The Stillwell burial ground is significant as an early, private burial ground still in use by descendants of the original settlers. Situated on a slope overlooking the location of the original road, the burial ground would have previously been a prominent feature in the landscape, with passers-by able to see the area. Recent burials confirm and continue the traditional pattern of burials on the family property. Allowing stock to graze within the area respects the historic use of the land without compromising the significance of the area as an acknowledged place of mourning, remembrance and contemplation.

Level of Significance: High Local

Stockyards (PYWF H16)

Criterion A: An item is important in the course, or pattern, of NSW's cultural or natural history

The stockyards reflect the historic use of the area as a stock grazing property.

Criterion F: An item possesses uncommon, rare or endangered aspects of NSW's cultural or natural history

The timber construction has been augmented with metal additions which signify the broadscale transition away from timber in farm construction. The timber yards represent an historic construction method. Currently these items are not rare within the landscape, however they are endangered as timber construction is phased out and replaced with mass produced metal fittings.

Criterion G: An item is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of NSW's cultural or natural places; or cultural or natural environments.

Although most new stockyards are constructed from metal, timber stockyards are not currently rare within the landscape.

Statement of significance:

The stockyards confer a strong visual sense of historic property use and represent an historic agricultural aesthetic. Although not rare within the local area, they represent a feature which will become increasingly rare with the modernisation of materials in most rural contexts.

Level of Significance: Low Local

Steam Boiler (PYWF H17)

Criterion C: An item is important in demonstrating aesthetic characteristics and/or a high degree of creative or technical achievement in NSW

The steam boiler dates to between 1889 and 1951. The boiler reflects the engineering technology of the time, both in its own design and manufacture and the uses to which it was put. The boiler is a piece of movable heritage as is exemplified by its transition between at least two locations. The boiler is in poor condition, with elements detached, modifications made to the original design and degrading metal.

Statement of significance:

The steam boiler is significant as a moveable heritage item which denotes past land use in the area. The poor condition of the boiler detracts from its significance.

Level of Significance: Low Local

Mingary Park airstrip (PYWF H18)

Criterion A: An item is important in the course, or pattern, of NSW's cultural or natural history

The airstrip is associated with Max Hazelton being constructed in direct response to his crash in the area in 1954. The crash of his Auster J5F Aglet trainer sparked the biggest aviation search of the time. Constructed as an emergency landing strip, the airstrip was also used for more mundane requirements such as a landing place for local crop dusters.

Criterion B: An item has strong or special association with the life or works of a person, or group of persons, of importance in NSW's cultural or natural history

The airstrip is associated with Max Hazelton who constructed it after an aeroplane crash. Hazelton was pioneer of Australian aviation; with his company commencing operations ferrying stock and station agents around New South Wales. His company grew to the point where it offered regular

	passenger services.
Statemer	nt of significance:
	The Mingary Park airstrip was built as a direct consequence of an important aircraft crash. It was situated so as to provide emergency landing facilities in an area that was otherwise poorly serviced. The airstrip has also been used for

Quobleigh basalt chimney & plantings (PYWF H19)

Criterion A: An item is important in the course, or pattern, of NSW's cultural or natural history

The archaeological remains and extant chimney and garden plantings are associated with the early settlement of the area. The chimney has been constructed of locally available materials and suggests a mid-1800s construction. The garden boundary and plantings reflect the historic layout and curtilage of the property. The house appears to have been a small rural dwelling and would have been similar in form to many early rural houses.

Criterion C: An item is important in demonstrating aesthetic characteristics and/or a high degree of creative or technical achievement in NSW

The basalt chimney is an attractive, historic landscape feature in more modern surrounds. Displaying excellent craftsmanship, the survival of the chimney following the demise of the rest of the house is testimony to the degree of care and skill which went into its creation. The chimney and garden plantings serve as the visible component of an archaeological site.

Criterion E: An item has the potential to yield information that will contribute to an understanding of NSW's cultural and natural history

Archaeological remains associated with the original dwelling may provide information about the size of the house and construction techniques. Any cultural deposits may provide information on the age, gender and socio-

Quobleigh b	asalt chimney & plantings (PYWF H19)
	economic grouping of the occupants.
Statement of	f significance:
	PYWF H19 is significant as the site of an early rural house. The site reflects the early settlement patterns and has potential to provide information which is not readily available from historical sources.
Level of Sign	ificance: Moderate Local

Page Intentionally Left Blank

APPENDIX E – Proposed Turbine Coordinates

GDA94 (MGA / Zone-55) GDA94 (MGA / Zone-55) P1 747801 6214761 P3 748519 6214803 P4 748803 6214973 P5 749054 6215129 P8 749637 6214879 P9 750045 6215202 P10 750541 6215025 P11 750521 6215025 P13 750866 6215216 P14 75110 6214033 P15 750790 6214083 P16 751180 6214432 P17 751425 6214083 P18 751941 6215144 P19 751765 6214083 P17 751425 6214083 P18 751941 621514 P19 751765 6214083 P20 751924 6214652 P23 753153 6214652 P24 753358 6216136 P25 752654 6216324 <th>Turbine ID</th> <th>Easting / UTM-X</th> <th>Northing / UTM-Y</th>	Turbine ID	Easting / UTM-X	Northing / UTM-Y
P3 748519 6214803 P4 748803 6214973 P5 749054 6215129 P8 749637 6214879 P9 750045 621502 P10 750541 6215025 P13 750866 6215216 P14 751110 6214083 P15 750790 6214083 P16 751180 6214472 P17 751425 6214787 P18 751941 6215114 P17 751425 6214787 P18 751941 621513 P19 751765 6214326 P19 751765 6214787 P18 751941 6215114 P19 751765 6214376 P20 751924 6215913 P21 752758 6214052 P23 753153 6215076 P24 753358 6216108 P25 752654 6216324		GDA94 (MGA / Zone-55)	GDA94 (MGA / Zone-55)
P4 748803 6214973 P5 749054 6215129 P8 749637 6214879 P9 750045 6215202 P10 750541 6215025 P12 750521 6215025 P13 750866 6215216 P14 751110 6214083 P15 750790 6214083 P16 751425 6214432 P17 751425 6214787 P18 751941 621514 P19 751765 621432 P19 751765 621432 P20 751924 6215913 P21 752758 6214376 P22 752945 621602 P23 753153 621603 P24 753358 6216136 P25 752936 621603 P27 752654 6216324 P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 621601	P1	747801	6214761
P5 749054 6215129 P8 749637 6214879 P9 750045 6215202 P10 750541 6215025 P12 750521 6215025 P13 750866 6215216 P14 751110 6215434 P15 750790 6214083 P16 751180 6214432 P17 751425 6214787 P18 751941 6215114 P19 751765 6214320 P20 751924 6215913 P21 752758 6214376 P22 752945 6216108 P23 753153 6216136 P24 753358 6216136 P25 752936 6216138 P27 752654 6216324 P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 621601 P30 752971 6216935 P31 751295 6216935	Р3	748519	6214803
P8 749637 6214879 P9 750045 6215202 P10 750541 6215025 P12 750521 6215025 P13 750866 6215216 P14 751110 6214083 P15 750790 6214083 P16 751180 6215216 P17 751425 6214787 P18 751941 6215144 P19 751765 6215480 P20 751924 6215913 P21 752758 6214376 P22 752945 6215076 P23 753153 6216302 P24 753358 6216108 P25 752936 6216324 P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 621601 P30 752971 6216909 P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P4	748803	6214973
P9 750045 6215202 P10 750541 6215361 P12 750521 6215025 P13 750866 6215216 P14 751110 6215434 P15 750790 6214083 P16 751180 6214432 P17 751425 6214787 P18 751941 6215114 P19 751765 6214326 P20 751924 6215913 P21 752758 6214652 P23 753153 6215076 P24 753358 6216108 P25 752936 6216108 P27 752654 6216324 P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 621601 P30 752971 6216935 P31 751295 6216935	P5	749054	6215129
P10 750541 6215361 P12 750521 6215025 P13 750866 6215216 P14 751110 6215434 P15 750790 6214083 P16 751180 6215434 P17 751425 6214787 P18 751941 6215913 P20 751924 6215913 P21 752758 6214652 P22 752945 6216136 P23 753153 6216136 P25 752936 6216138 P29 752167 6216398 P29 752959 6216398 P29 752969 621601 P30 752971 6216935 P31 751295 6216935	P8	749637	6214879
P127505216215025P137508666215216P147511106215434P157507906214083P167511806214432P177514256214787P187519416215114P197517656215480P207519246215913P217527586214652P237531536216136P247533586216136P257529366216108P287521676216324P297529696216601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	Р9	750045	6215202
P137508666215216P147511106215434P157507906214083P167511806214432P177514256214787P187519416215114P197517656215480P207519246215913P217527586214652P237531536215076P247533586216136P257529366216108P277526546216324P287521676216398P297529696216001P307512956216935P317512956216935P327516546217233	P10	750541	6215361
P147511106215434P157507906214083P167511806214432P177514256214787P187519416215114P197517656215480P207519246215913P217527586214376P227529456214652P237531536215076P247533586216108P257529366216108P277526546216324P287521676216398P297529696216601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P12	750521	6215025
P157507906214083P167511806214432P177514256214787P187519416215114P197517656215480P207519246215913P217527586214376P227529456214652P237531536216136P247533586216136P257529366216324P287521676216398P29752969621601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P13	750866	6215216
P167511806214432P177514256214787P187519416215114P197517656215480P207519246215913P217527586214376P227529456214652P237531536215076P247533586216136P257529366216108P277526546216324P287521676216398P297529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P14	751110	6215434
P177514256214787P187519416215114P197517656215480P207519246215913P217527586214376P227529456214652P237531536215076P247533586216136P257529366216324P287521676216324P29752969621601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P15	750790	6214083
P187519416215114P197517656215480P207519246215913P217527586214376P227529456214652P237531536215076P247533586216136P257529366216108P287521676216398P297529696216601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P16	751180	6214432
P197517656215480P207519246215913P217527586214376P227529456214652P237531536215076P247533586216136P257529366216108P277526546216324P287521676216398P297529696216601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P17	751425	6214787
P207519246215913P217527586214376P227529456214652P237531536215076P247533586216136P257529366216108P277526546216324P287521676216398P297529696216601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P18	751941	6215114
P217527586214376P227529456214652P237531536215076P247533586216136P257529366216108P277526546216324P287521676216398P297529696216601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P19	751765	6215480
P227529456214652P237531536215076P247533586216136P257529366216108P277526546216324P287521676216398P297529696216601P307529716216909P317512956216935P327516546217233	P20	751924	6215913
P23 753153 6215076 P24 753358 6216136 P25 752936 6216108 P27 752654 6216324 P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 6216601 P30 752971 6216909 P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P21	752758	6214376
P24 753358 6216136 P25 752936 6216108 P27 752654 6216324 P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 6216601 P30 752971 6216909 P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P22	752945	6214652
P25 752936 6216108 P27 752654 6216324 P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 6216601 P30 752971 6216909 P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P23	753153	6215076
P27 752654 6216324 P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 6216601 P30 752971 6216909 P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P24	753358	6216136
P28 752167 6216398 P29 752969 6216601 P30 752971 6216909 P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P25	752936	6216108
P29 752969 6216601 P30 752971 6216909 P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P27	752654	6216324
P30 752971 6216909 P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P28	752167	6216398
P31 751295 6216935 P32 751654 6217233	P29	752969	6216601
P32 751654 6217233	P30	752971	6216909
	P31	751295	6216935
D22 7E10/0 6017/7/	P32	751654	6217233
r JO JUNA 1021/4/4	P33	751942	6217474
P34 752209 6217766	P34	752209	6217766
P35 751952 6218024	P35	751952	6218024
P36 753234 6217980	P36	753234	6217980

Turbine ID	Easting / UTM-X	Northing / UTM-Y
	GDA94 (MGA / Zone-55)	GDA94 (MGA / Zone-55)
P37	753414	6218295
P38	753669	6217768
P39	753790	6218102
P40	753715	6219273
P41	753755	6218710
P42	753850	6219051
P43	753989	6219495
P44	754258	6219702
P45	754452	6219949
P46	754723	6220153
P47	754672	6220558
P48	755148	6220270
P49	755526	6220445
P50	756080	6220346
P51	756446	6220552
P52	757359	6219304
P53	757574	6219024
P54	757655	6218768
P55	757564	6218414
P56	757293	6218234
P57	757116	6217956
P58	756710	6217869
P59	757015	6217565
P60	757375	6217236
Substation North	753623	6217982
Substation South	751038	6214385

APPENDIX F – Letter from Pejar LALC

Page Intentionally Left Blank

PEJAR LALC

EJAR LOCAL ABORIGINAL LAND COUNCIL BO Combernere St (PD Box 289) Goulburn NSW 2580

Phone (02) 4822 3552 • Fax (02) 4822 3551 email address: pajar1@goulburn.net.au ABN 72 662 632 151

Jason Anderson Director Anderson Environmental Consultants Pty Ltd 1300 302 507 Fax 028580 4731

Dear Jason

Proposed Wind farm Paling Yards.

The Pejar Local Aboriginal Land Council's representative Mr Luke Burgess attended a survey for the above proposal on 13 December 2010. The Purpose of this survey was to determine if any Aboriginal Heritage could be identified.

During the inspection a total of 8 Sites, involving 130 + Artefacts were located.

We agree fully with the recommendations, made by the Archaeologist Mr Jason Anderson, as stated below:

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the detailed design of the Project aims to avoid, as far as practicable impacts on the known archaeological sites.

It is recommended that a Cultural Heritage Management Plan be prepared in collaboration with the Pejar Local Aboriginal Land Council to reduce and mitigate the impacts of the project on any artefacts which may be detected within disturbance zones. If it is not practicable to locate infrastructure so as avoid artefacts then cooperation with Pejar LALC should be undertaken to determine the management option for these artefacts (ie collection for education purposes or moving the artefacts slightly to outside the zone of disturbance). The movement of identified objects is considered to be likely to be a suitable mitigation measure in most cases as the distances involved would not be significant, and many of the objects may

have been moved in the past via water movement, erosion or vehicle/tractor movements such as road grading and cultivation of the ground.

The Cultural Heritage Management Plan should also outline management strategies for the management of any potential unrecorded sites which are identified within the site during construction of the Project. This is important as the detailed design of the proposed access tracks and electrical connections were not available at the time the field surveys were conducted, and potential deviations to the surveyed routes may be made during detailed design to reduce impact(s) on the land.

If impacts to any further sites which are identified cannot be avoided then further investigation would be required in consultation with Pejar LALC. This would include sub-surface digs and analysis.

Once the proposed access track extents and other disturbance areas are pegged on the ground, additional targeted surveys of these areas should be undertaken. Where these additional targeted surveys identify any further sites, test pits should be undertaken in order to determine the extent of significance of any sites which would be potentially impacted.

Careful road planning should be undertaken to utilise and upgrade existing roads where possible to achieve an overall site plan which minimises unnecessary soil disturbance.

If there is any further information that you may require, then please do not hesitate to contact us on the above numbers.

Yours sincerely TOMARN

Deliše Freeman CEO

2/2

APPENDIX G – **AHIMS Reports and Site Cards**

Page Intentionally Left Blank



AHIMS Web Services (AWS)

Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID : 95407

<u>SiteID</u>	<u>SiteName</u>		<u>Datum</u>	Zone	Easting	Northing	<u>Context</u>	<u>Site Status</u>	<u>SiteFeatures</u>	<u>SiteTypes</u>	<u>Reports</u>
51-3-0030	Bummeroo		AGD	55	753540	6212600	Open site	Valid	Artefact : 40		
	<u>Contact</u> T	Russell	Recorders	Ms.Si	ue Wesson				<u>Permits</u>		
51-3-0042	Paling Yards Wine	d Farm A12	GDA	55	752237	6216664	Open site	Valid	Stone Quarry : -		100454
	<u>Contact</u> Se	earle	<u>Recorders</u>	Herit	age Concepts	;			Permits		
51-3-0043	Paling Yards Wind	d Farm A13	GDA	55	752045	6215954	Open site	Valid	Artefact : 1		100454
	<u>Contact</u> Se	earle	<u>Recorders</u>	Herit	age Concepts	;			<u>Permits</u>		
51-3-0044	Paling Yards Wine	d Farm A14	GDA	55	752021	6216134	Open site	Valid	Artefact : 2		100454
	<u>Contact</u> Se	earle	<u>Recorders</u>	Herit	age Concepts	;			Permits		

Report generated by AHIMS Web Service on 19/03/2013 for Jason Anderson for the following area at Lat, Long From : -34.2035, 149.6943 - Lat, Long To : -34.1526, 149.7781 with a Buffer of 1000 meters. Additional Info : impact assessment. Number of Aboriginal sites and Aboriginal objects found is 4 This information is not guaranteed to be free from error omission. Office of Environment and Heritage (NSW) and its employees disclaim liability for any act done or omission made on the information and consequences of such acts or omission. Page Intentionally Left Blank

Site



Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1

3 0 0 3 0 2 5 0 7

1

14/12/200

Phone number

Date recorded

	OPEN/CLOSE SITE	Open Site		
Site Context				
andform	Landform Unit			
Mountainous	Beach	Tidal Flat	Upper slope	Stream bank
Plain	Coastal rock platform	Cliff	Plain	Stream channel
Rolling hills	Dune	Crest	Ridge	Swamp
Steep hills	Intertidal flat	Flat	Tor	Terrace
Undulating plain	Lagoon	Lower slope	Valley flat	Terrace flat
Slope	Tidal Creek	Mid slope	Levy	
18 degrees				
Vegetation	Land use	Water		
Closed forest	Conservation	Distance to perma	inent water source	600 metres
Grasslands	Established urban	Distance to tempo	rary water source	metres
Isolated clumps of trees	Farming-intensive	Name of nearest p	permanent water source	
Open forest	Farming-low intensity	Name of nearest t	emporary water	Abercuomble Live.
Open woodland	Forestry			
Scrub	Industrial	12-	Directions for Relo	
Woodland	Mining	10 en	r to tece	e dovu
Cleared	Pastoral/grazing	- Sha	p track	<u>ب</u>
Revegetated	Recreation			
Revegetated	Recreation Semi-rural			
Revegetated	Semi-rural			
	Semi-rural			
	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor		Site Location	мар
	Semi-rural	NW	Site Location	Мар
N/A Current Land Tenure Public National P Dept.	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential	NW		Map
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW	N	
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential	NW	N	× Ferce
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government		N	
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW	N	
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government		N	
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	w	N	
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	w	N	
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	w	N	
N/A Current Land Tenure Public Public Private Paling Yard	Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	w	N	







Tuada

boriginal Community Inter	pretation	and M	lanad	emeni	Reco	omme	endat	ions									
songinal community inter	Protation		unay	enen	. neul	Smill	mual	.0112	-								
					_												
											-						
Preliminary Site Asses	ssment																
ite Cultural & Scientific A		nd Pre	limina	ary Ma	nage	ment	Reco	mm	end	atio	ons						
			_							-							_
																	_
his section should only be fi	illed in by	the En	dorse	es													
	illed in by wledge He			es ominat	ed Tru	ustee		Na	tive	Title	е Но	lder	Co	mmu	unity	Cons	ensi
		older		ominat	ed Tri	ustee		Na			e Ho t Na		Co	mmu	unity Init		ensi
Endorsed by: Know		older	N	ominat	ed Tru	ustee		Na					_] Co	mmu			ensi
Endorsed by: Know Title		older	N	ominat	ed Tru	ustee		Na					Co	mmu			ensi
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation		older	N	ominat	ed Tru	ustee		Na					_] Co	mmu			eensi
Endorsed by: Know Title		older	N	ominat	ed Tro	ustee		Na					_] Co	mmu			eensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation		older	N	ominat	ed Tru		Fax [Na					_] Co	mmu			eensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax) Na] Co	mmu			eensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	wledge He	older	Irnam	ominat			Fax	Na) Co				eensi
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax [) Na					_] Co	mmu			eensi
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax	Na) Co				eensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax [) Na) Co	mmu]]
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax	Na) Co				eensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax) Na) Co				eensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax [Na] Co				eensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax) Na									
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings Recording tables	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax (Na									
Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings	wledge He	older Su	Irnam	ominat			Fax [Na									eensi

NPWS FEATURE RECORDING FORM - ARTE	EFACT page 1
First recorded date III III IIII IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	-stone Artefacts to Percentage of Stone Artefacts 30-39% 40-49% 50-59% 60-69% 70-79% 80-89% 90-100%
Feature Context & Condition Scatter No.	Easting 0753324 Northing 6213813
Density Dimensions (Artefact count per square metropolitic)	Stratified Recommended Action Boardwalk Revegetation Fencing Signage Closure to public Soil erosion control Continued inspection Track closure/re-routing Fire hazard reduction Additional recording Expert assessment Meeting with land manager
Performing Indicate scale, location of instances) N N N	NE Feature Environment differs to site environment, use attributes from cover card, p. 2) Stope Land form Land form unit Slope Vegetation Vegetation Grazing Land use Water Distance to permanent water source Distance to temporary water source metres Name of nearest permanent water source metres Name of nearest temporary water Secure

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P1	0753324	6213813	Chip	Grey Silcrete	20x20x6
P1	0753324	6213813	Chip	Grey Silcrete	18x12x4
P1	0753324	6213813	Chip	Grey Silcrete	20x10x5
P1	0753324	6213813	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	40x12x6
P1	0753324	6213813	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	35x26x9
Pl	0753324	6213813	Debitage	Grey Silcrete	18x18x8
P1	0753324	6213813	Core Flake	Grey Silcrete	45x35x15
P1	0753324	6213813	Flake	Grey Silcrete	40x35x12

Sife2

Site Number	Aboriginal Site Recording Form AHIMS Registrar PO Box 1967, Hurstville NSW 2220	Confice of Environme & Heritage
Date received Date entered into system Date catalogued Information Access Importantion Access Importantion Access Gender/maile Gender/female Location restriction General restriction No access For Further Information Contact: Nominated Trustee Importantion Importantion Contact: Nominated Trustee Title Surname First Name Initials Client on system Address Importantion Importantion Importantion Importantion System Organisation Importantion Importantion Importantion Importantion System Organisation Importantion Importantion Importantion System System Organisation Importantion Importantion Importantion System System Organisation Importantion Importantion Importantion Importantion System Organisation Importantion Importantion Importantion System System Site Name Pailinia Importantion Importantion Importantion System Site N	Office Use Only	
Information Access Gender/male Location restriction General restriction No access Gender/male Gender/male Location restriction General restriction No access For Further Information Contact: Nominated Trustee Initials Client on system Organisation Gender/Male Fax Initials Client on system Address Gender/Male Fax Initials Client on system Organisation Fax Initials Client on system Geographic Location Fax Initials Client on system Site Name Call of J Va T d S Initials Initials Organisation Initial of Va T d S Initials Initials Other Registration Initials Initials Client or system		
Gender//female Location restriction General restriction No access For Further Information Contact: Nominated Trustee Title Surname First Name Initials Client on system Organisation General restriction No access System Address General restriction No access System Nominated Trustee First Name Initials Client on system Address Geographic Fax Geographic Geographic Geographic Organisation Fax Fax Geographic	Entered by (I.D.)	
Gender//female Location restriction General restriction No access For Further Information Contact: Nominated Trustee Title Surname First Name Initials Client on system Organisation General restriction No access System Address General restriction No access System Nominated Trustee First Name Initials Client on system Address Geographic Fax Geographic Geographic Geographic Organisation Fax Fax Geographic		
For Further Information Contact: Nominated Trustee Tile Surname First Name Initials Organisation Address Initials Client on system Address Initials Client on system System Organisation Initials Client on system Organisation Fax Initials Client on system Organisation Fax Initials System Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Initials Initials Besting Initials Initials Initials Initials Other Registration Initials Initials Initials Initials Organisation Initials Initials Initials Initials Organisation Initials Initials Initials Initials <		
Nominated Trustee Title Surname First Name Initials Client on system Organisation Address Fax Initials Client on system Address Fax Initials Client on system Yourname First Name Initials Client on system Organisation Fax Initials Client on system Organisation Fax Initials Client on system Organisation Fax Initials Client on system Address Initials Client on system System Address Initials Client on system System Address Initials Client on system System Address Initials Initials Client on system Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Initials Initials Site Name Initials Initials Initials Site Name Initials Initials Initials Organisation Initials Initials Initials Organisation Initials Initials Initials <		
Title Surname First Name Initials Client on system Organisation Address Image: Surname Fax Image: Surname		
Organisation Address Address Fax Nowledge Holder Tile Sumame First Name Initials Organisation Address Organisation Address Organisation Address Phone number Fax Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Site Name Patient Patien		
Organisation Address Image: Sumare First Name Initials Phone number Image: Sumare First Name Initials Client on system Organisation Image: Sumare Fax Image: Sumare Image: S		Client on
whone number itile Surname Fax itile Surname First Name Initials Organisation Address itile Organisation Address Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Palin 19 Yia r ds Easting 0753 40 Mapsheet 0/2 Action Site Name For Address Other Registration Other Registration Other Registration Client or system Address PO BOX 6 9 0 S PR NGW 00 D 27.7 Client or system	Organisation	system
Knowledge Holder Title Sumame First Name Initials Client on system Organisation Address Address Address Initials System Phone number Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Initials Site Name Palling Yards Geographic Location Site Name Palling Yards AGD/GDA GDA Site Name Palling Yards AGD/GDA GDA Mapsheet OL 4 A C 5 K Initials Other Registration Other Registration Initials Primary Recorder Title Sumame First Name Initials MR A N D E R S O N J A S O N Other Registration Client or system Organisation A D E R S O N E N V R O N M E N T A L System System Shone number J O O 3 O Z 5 O 7 Fax Z 8 5 8 O 4 7 3 1 Initials Client or system	Address	
Title Surname First Name Initials Organisation Address Organisation Address Ohone number Fax Aborginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Palling Yards Easting OTS3467 Northing Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Palling Yards AgD/GDA GDA Mapsheet OL APTON Ner Registration Other Registration Other Registration Client or system Other Registration Client or system Other Registration Other Registration Other Registration Client or system Other Registration Client or system Other Registration Client or system Other Registration O	Phone number	
Title Surname First Name Initials Organisation Address Organisation Address Ohone number Fax Aborginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Palling Yards Easting OTS3467 Northing Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Palling Yards AgD/GDA GDA Mapsheet OL APTON Ner Registration Other Registration Other Registration Client or system Other Registration Client or system Other Registration Other Registration Other Registration Client or system Other Registration Client or system Other Registration Client or system Other Registration O	Knowledge Holder	
Organisation Address Phone number Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Palling Yards Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Palling Yards Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Palling Yards Address PO BoX 690 SPR Ndress PO BoX BoX Sone number Client or System System Client or System S		Client on
Address Fax Phone number Fax Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Paiing Yards AGD/GDA GDA AGD/GDA Mapsheet POL Pol Location Method Non-Differential GPS Other Registration Other Registration Initials MR ANDERSON JASON Organisation ANDERSON SPRINGWOOD Z777 Phone number 1300302507 Fax 285804731		
Phone number Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Paiing Yards Easting 07534407 Northing 02/534407 Northing 02/3730 AGD/GDA GDA Mapsheet FOLLARTIN Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS Other Registration Primary Recorder Title Sumame MR A N D E R S O N J A S O N Client or system Client or system	Organisation	
Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Paiing Yards Easting Zore Some Site Address Corport Corport Title Sumame MR ANDERSON ANDERSON SPRINGWOOD Organisation ANDERSON Torono number 130302507 Fax 285804731		
Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts Geographic Location Site Name Paiing Yards Easting Zore Some Site Address Corport Corport Title Sumame MR ANDERSON ANDERSON SPRINGWOOD Organisation ANDERSON Torono number 130302507 Fax 285804731	Phone number	
Geographic Location Site Name Pailing Yards Easting 0.753404 Northing 6.2.13730 AGD/GDA GDA Mapsheet FOLLARTOW AGD/GDA GDA GDA Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS Other Registration Other Registration Client or system MR ANDERSON JASON Client or system Organisation ANDERSON ENVRONMENTAL Client or system Phone number 1300302507 Fax 285804731 Client or system		
Site Name Paing Yards Easting 0753407 Northing 6213730 AGD/GDA GDA Mapsheet 02242730 AGD/GDA GDA Mapsheet 02242730 Agb/GDA GDA Mapsheet 02242730 Agb/GDA GDA Other Registration Other Registration Other Registration Organisation ANDERSON Address PO BOX 690 SPRINGWOOD 2777 Client or system Organisation Address PO BOX 690 SPRINGWOOD 200302507 Fax 285804731		
Easting 0753407 Northing 6213730 AGD/GDA GDA Mapsheet 0244 A To K AGD/GDA GDA Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS Other Registration Other Registration	Geographic Location	
Mapsheet FOLLARTON Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS Other Registration Other Registration Primary Recorder Title Surname First Name Initials MR A N D E R S O N J A S O N Client or system Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V I R O N M E N T A L Client or system Phone number 1 3 0 0 3 0 2 5 0 7 The system	Site Name Palling Yards	
Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS Other Registration	Easting 0753404 Northing 6213730 AGD/GDA GDA	
Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS Other Registration	Mapsheet FULLERTOW	
Primary Recorder Title Surname First Name Initials M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N I I Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V I R O N M E N T A L I I Address P O B O X 6 9 0 S P R I N G W O O D 2 7 7 7 I Phone number 1 3 0 0 3 0 2 5 0 7 Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1 I I I		
Title Surname First Name Initials M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N Image: Client or system Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V I R O N M E N T A L Image: Client or system Address P O B O X 6 9 0 S P R I N G W O O D 2 7 7 7 Image: Client or system Phone number 1 3 0 0 3 0 2 5 0 7 Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1 Image: Client or system	Other Registration	
Title Surname First Name Initials M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N Image: Client or system Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V I R O N M E N T A L Image: Client or system Address P O B O X 6 9 0 S P R I N G W O O D 2 7 7 7 Image: Client or system Phone number 1 3 0 0 3 0 2 5 0 7 Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1 Image: Client or system		
M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N Image: Client or system Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V I R O N M E N T A L Image: Client or system Address P O B O X 6 9 0 S P R I N G W O O D 2 7 7 7 Image: Client or system Phone number 1 3 0 0 3 0 2 5 0 7 Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1 Image: Client or system		ł
Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V I R O N M E N T A L Client or system Address P O B O X 6 9 0 S P R I N G W O O D 2 7 7 7 Client or system Phone number 1 3 0 0 3 0 2 5 0 7 Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1 Client or system		
Address P O B O X 6 9 0 S P I N G W O D 2 7 7 7 Phone number 1 3 0 3 0 2 5 0 7 Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1 1		Client on
Phone number 1 3 0 3 0 2 5 0 4 7 3 1		
	Date recorded 14/12/20 (0)	

NPWS Abori	ginal Si	ite Recording Forr	n - Site Informa	tion	page
		OPEN/CLOSE SITE	Open Site		
Site Context					
andform		Landform Unit	F		
Mountainous		Beach	Tidal Flat	Upper slope	Stream bank
Plain		Coastal rock platform	Cliff	Plain	Stream channel
Rolling hills		Dune	Crest	Ridge	Swamp
Steep hills		Intertidal flat	Flat	Tor	Terrace
Undulating pla	in	Lagoon	Lower slope	Valley flat	Terrace flat
lope		Tidal Creek	Mid slope	Levy	
∫ ⊄ degrees					
/egetation		Land use	Water		
Closed forest		Conservation	Distance to permane	nt water source	450 metres
Grasslands		Established urban	Distance to temporar	y water source	metres
Isolated clump	os of trees	Farming-intensive	Name of nearest per	-	Abercrubip
Open forest		Farming-low intensity	Name of nearest tem		Rue
Open woodlan	hd	Forestry			
Scrub			A 1-	Directions for Reloc	ation
Woodland			Harac	ent to	feile
		Mining	dow	n track.	
Cleared		Pastoral/grazing			
Revegetated		Recreation			
N/A		Semi-rural			
		Service corridor			
		Transport corridor		Site Location I	Man
		Urban expansion	NW	N	indb
		Residential			
Current Land Te					
Dublic	lational Pa)ept.	rk / other Government			001
 Private Pa 	aling Yards			Pa	bock
Primary report	I.D.		100	· · · · · ·	
		(I.D. Office Use only)			
			-	62)/	N
			W	(ixe	
			Woodla	il l'	4
					×
					X tack
					1.6
			T		
					1
			SW	S	





S

Site Dimensions Closed Site Dimensions (m) Internal length Internal width Shelter height Shelter floor area Open Site Dimensions (m)



All thack Total length of visible site Average width of visible site Estimated area of visible site Length of assessed site area

ooriginal Community Inte	rpretation and Management Recommendations
Preliminary Site Asses	ssment
	Analysis and Preliminary Management Recommendations
his section should only be f	filled in by the Endorsees
Endorsed by: Kno	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser
	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser
indorsed by: Kno Title	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser
indorsed by: Kno Title	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser
ndorsed by: Kno Title Organisation	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser
indorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Kno Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.)	weige Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Kno Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Kno Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Kno Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Kno Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
indorsed by: Known Title Image: Colour photographs At location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings Site plans, drawings Recording tables	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Kno Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Conser Surname First Name Initials

Site I.D.	Site Name	5162	
First recorded date	Importance		
		-ow	
No. of instances			
Recorded by JA	14.18		
Yes No			
Stone artefacts only Yes	Percentage of N	Ion-stone Artefacts to Percen	ntage of Stone Artefacts
Artefacts collected No	_	% 30-39% 40-49% 50-59% 60-69%	-
Permit issued No	0-9%		
eature Context & ondition	Scatter No.	Easting 6 7 5 3 4 6	4 Northing 62/3730
Densi			Yes No
1			
(Artefact count per square metre)	Length ((m) 5 Width (m) -	Depth (m)
			Stratified
ature Condition General	Condition	Recommended Action	personal second s
	thered	Boardwalk	Revegetation
		Fencing	Signage
	cle damage	Closure to public	Soil erosion control
Poor Surfa	ace water wash	Continued inspection	Track closure/re-routing
Fire	damage	Fire hazard reduction	
Eros	ion	File hazaru reduction	Additional recording
	ion .		
	k damage	Expert assessment	
Stoc	k damage	Meeting with land ma	nager
Stoc		Meeting with land ma	nager
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate	Meeting with land ma	nager
Stoc	k damage osed archaeological mate	erial Meeting with land man	
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	rial Meeting with land man	ronment (Complete when <i>feature</i> environment differs to site environment, use attribut
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	erial Meeting with land man	
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	Prial Meeting with land man	ronment (Complete when <i>feature</i> environment differs to <i>site</i> environment, use attribu from cover card, p. 2)
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	erial Meeting with land man	ronment (Complete when <i>feature</i> environment differs to <i>site</i> environment, use attribu from cover card, p. 2) Land form
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	Prial Meeting with land man	ronment (Complete when <i>feature</i> environment differs to <i>site</i> environment, use attribu from cover card, p. 2) Land form Land form unit
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	Prial Meeting with land man	ronment differs to <i>sile</i> environment, use attribut from cover card, p. 2)
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi	ronment (Complete when <i>feature</i> environment differs to <i>site</i> environment, use attribu from cover card, p. 2) Land form Land form unit
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi	ronment differs to <i>sile</i> environment, use attribut from cover card, p. 2)
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi	ronment (Complete when <i>feature</i> environment differs to <i>site</i> environment, use attribu- from cover card, p. 2) Land form Land form unit Slope Vegetation
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi NE Slope Ist Clease Or a 21 Water	ronment (Complete when feature environment differs to site environment, use attribu- from cover card, p. 2) Land form Land form unit Slope Vegetation Land use
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi NE Slope IS Clease IS Clease Water Distance to permit	ronment (Complete when feature environment differs to site environment, use attribut from cover card, p. 2)
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi NE Slope IS Clease IS Clease Water Distance to permit	ronment (Complete when feature environment differs to site environment, use attribut from cover card, p. 2)
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi NE Slope Image: Slope Image: Slope Image: Slope	ronment (Complete when feature environment differs to sile environment, use attribution from cover card, p. 2)
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi NE Feature Envi Slope Image: Slope Image: Slope	ronment (Complete when feature environment differs to sile environment, use attribu- from cover card, p. 2) Land form Land form unit Slope Vegetation Land use nanent water source porary water source metre t permanent water source
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi NE Feature Envi Slope Istance for perm Distance to perm Distance to temp Name of neares A Percent	ronment (Complete when feature environment differs to site environment, use attribu- from cover card, p. 2) Land form Land form unit Slope Vegetation Land use nanent water source porary water source t permanent water pource
Stoc Expo	k damage osed archaeological mate e, location of instances)	NE Feature Envi NE Feature Envi Slope Istance for perm Distance to perm Distance to temp Name of neares A Percent	ronment (Complete when feature environment differs to sile environment, use attribu- from cover card, p. 2) Land form Land form unit Slope Vegetation Land use nanent water source porary water source metre t permanent water source

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P2	0753404	6213730	Core	Grey Silcrete	60x52x25
P2	0753404	6213730	Debitage from Core	Grey Silrete	45x48x22
P2	0753404	6213730	Flake	Grey Silcrete	28x23x6
P2	0753404	6213730	Chip	Grey Silcrete	26x21x9

Site3

ADDITION State Aboriginal Heritage Information of Physical System	Aboriginal Site Recording Form AHIMS Registrar PO Box 1967, Hurstville NSW 2220	Office of Environmen & Heritage
Office Use Only		-
Site Numb er		
Date received Date entered in	nto system/ Date catalogued	
Entered by (I.D.)		
Information Access		
Gender/male Gender/female Locat	tion restriction General restriction No access	Office Use Only
For Further Information Contact:		
Nominated Trustee		
Title Surname	First Name Initials	
		Client on
Organisation		system
Address		
Phone number	Fax	
Knowledge Holder		
Title Surname	First Name Initials	Client on
		system
Organisation		
Address		
Phone number	Fax	
Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage	Division Contacts	
		1
Geographic Location		-
	s	
Easting 0753580Northing 62	2(3637 AGD/GDA GDA	
Mapsheet $FU \perp L \perp E \land T \land W$		
Zone 55 Location Met	thod Non-Differential GPS	7
		4
Other Registr	ration	
Primary Recorder Title Surname	First Name Initials	1

 Phone number
 1
 3
 0
 3
 0
 2
 5
 0
 7

 Date recorded
 #(12) be (2)

ΡΟ

Organisation

Address

ANDERSON

BOX

Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards (I.D. Office Use only)	NPWS Aboriginal S	ite Recording Forr	n - Site Inform	ation	page 2	
Landform Landform Unit Mountainous Beach Tidal Flat Upper slope Stream bank Plain Coastal rock platform Cliff Plain Stream channel Relling hills Dune Crest Ridge Swamp Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat Slope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres Closed forest Conservation Distance to temporary water source Interview Metres Closed forest Conservation Distance to temporary water source Interview Interview Open forest Farming-itensive Name of nearest temporary water Interview Interview Open woodland Forestry Strub Industrial Industrial Industrial Woodland Industrial Revegetated Recreation N/A Service corridor Transport corridor Transport corridor N N N N		OPEN/CLOSE SITE	Dpen Site			
Mountainous Beach Tidal Flat Upper slope Stream bank Plain Coastal rock platform Cliff Plain Stream channel Rolling hills Dune Crest Ridge Swamp Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat Stope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Metres Glosed forest Conservation Distance to temporary water source Indextree Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source Indextree Indextree Open forest Farming-intensity Name of nearest permanent water source Indextree Indextree Open woodland Forestry Directions for Relignation Auount to the action Auount to the action N/A Service corridor Name of nearest permanent water source Industrial Industrial Vecodland Forestry Directions for Relignation Auount to the action Industrial Vocodland Service corridor N N Service corridor	Site Context					
Plain Coastal rock platform Cliff Plain Stream channel Rolling hills Dune Crest Ridge Swamp Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat Stope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Stope Closed forest Conservation Distance to temporary water source metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Mid slope Low Open woodland Forestry Name of nearest temporary water Cial Mid strial Woodland Mining Advaart To Fause Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation NW NW Ne N/A Semi-rural Set Location Map NV N Ne Public National Park / other Government N N N Padwout N	Landform	Landform Unit				
Rolling hills Dune Crest Ridge Swamp Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat Slope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy 55 degrees Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 280 metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres K bercrucket Open forest Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source K bercrucket Open woodland Forestry Name of nearest temporary water K:W Open woodland Forestry Name of nearest temporary water K:W Woodland Mining Advack to the Qet and Qet	Mountainous	Beach	Tidal Flat	Upper slope	Stream bank	
Steep hils Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat Stope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Stope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Stope Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres Metres Open forest Farming-tow intensity Name of nearest permanent water source More and the accution for Relegation Woodland Mining Adacut to the deve Marce of nearest temporary water Marce of nearest temporary water Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation Adacut to the deve N/A Service corridor Transport corridor Site Location Map Ne Public National Park / other Government Dept NW Ne Padbocth of E Public Dept Industrial Industrial Woodland Woodland NW NW Write Paling Yards Woodland Woodland	Plain	Coastal rock platform	Cliff	Plain	Stream channel	
Cloop Intal Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat Slope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Solop E Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 280 Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source <i>Mire Proceeding</i> Open forest Forestry Scrub Industrial <i>Miring Directions for Relocation</i> Voodland Mining Advalue <i>Advalue Advalue Advalue</i> N/A Service corridor Transport corridor NW NW NW Private National Park / other Government NW N Ne Primary report LD. cb other ureng) W <i>Mathodel</i> N	Rolling hills	Dune	Crest	Ridge	Swamp	
Slope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Sologe Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Sologe Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 280 metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source <i>Mbrocharde</i> Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial <i>Mining Micaunt to the enc</i> Voodland Mining Pastoral/grazing <i>Advalut to the enc Advalut to the enc</i> Revegetated Recreation Service corridor Site Location Map Ne Vibal National Park / other Government Ne Ne <i>Maddut to</i> Ne Public National Park / other Government W <i>Maddut to</i> Ne <i>Maddut to</i> Ne Primary report LD. Do oneor the eng) W <i>Maddut to</i> E	Steep hills	Intertidal flat	Flat	Tor	Terrace	
Cruze Land use Water Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 280 metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source <i>interes</i> Open forest Farming-low intensity Name of nearest temporary water <i>i.al</i> Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining <i>Mixacut</i> for <i>A feac</i> Cleared Pastoral/grazing <i>Mixacut</i> for <i>A feac</i> Revegetated Recreation <i>Mixacut</i> for <i>A feac</i> N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Urban expansion N N Public National Park / other Government N Public National Park / other Government N Would @0.0metuse way W Would @0.0metuse way W Would Mixacut N Wrade N N Wrade N N Would N N <td>Undulating plain</td> <td>Lagoon</td> <td>Lower slope</td> <td>Valley flat</td> <td>Terrace flat</td>	Undulating plain	Lagoon	Lower slope	Valley flat	Terrace flat	
Image: Conservation Land use Water Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 280 metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Image: Cleared Open woodland Forestry Name of nearest temporary water Image: Cleared Pastoral/grazing Cleared Pastoral/grazing Mining Image: Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation Mixing Image: Cleared Service corridor Urban expansion Nr Ne Ne Ne Public National Park / other Government Ne Ne Public National Park / other Government Ne Ne Work Residential Ne Ne Mather N Ne With Paling Yards Work Weight Wards Mather N Patholich Kereiter	Slope	Tidal Creek	Mid slope	Levy		
Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 280 metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source It by consumate Open forest Farming-intensive Name of nearest temporary water It by consumate Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Directions for Relocation Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion N Residential N Virban expansion N Private Paling Yards Private Paling Yards Primary report LD. ub. Office Use only W W Multicolution	0.00					
Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source Imetres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Image: Distance to temporary water source Image: Distance to temporary water source Open forest Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Image: Distance to temporary water source Image: Distance to temporary water source Open forest Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Image: Distance to temporary water Open forest Farming-intensive Name of nearest temporary water Image: Distance to temporary water Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Image: Distance to temporary water Image: Distance to temporary water Cleared Pastoral/grazing Directions for Relocation Image: Distance to temporary water N/A Semi-tural Service corridor Transport corridor Site Location Map N/A Service corridor N N N N Public National Park / other Government N N N Paddocth N Primary report I.D. I.D. <	Vegetation	Land use	Water			
Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Image: Approximate intensity Open forest Farming-low intensity Name of nearest temporary water Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Nw Residential Nw Nw Nw Primary report LD (LD Name of nearest permanent water source Residential Name of nearest temporary water	Closed forest	Conservation	Distance to permar	nent water source	280 metres	
Open forest Farming-low intensity Name of nearest temporary water Image: Structure Open woodland Forestry Directions for Relocation Scrub Industrial Mining Woodland Mining Advacant to teve Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Service corridor Urban expansion NW Residential NW Public National Park / other Government Dept. Primary report I.D. (D. office Use only) W W Primary report I.D. W Padboch, N	Grasslands	Established urban	Distance to tempor	ary water source	metres	
Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Nw Residential Nw Public National Park / other Government Dept. (ID. Office Use only) Write Paling Yards Work W Primary report I.D. (ID. Office Use only) W Work N	Isolated clumps of trees	Farming-intensive	Name of nearest pe	ermanent water source	Kpercromple	
Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential NW Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Primary report LD. Woodland Advaart to the dee advart Directions for Relocation Advaart to the dee	Open forest	Farming-low intensity	Name of nearest te	mporary water	River	
Scrub industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential NW Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Priwate Paling Yards W Primary report I.D. w Que do	Open woodland	Forestry				
Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential NW Current Land Tenure Public Dept. Priwate Paling Yards Primary report I.D. W Padbach W Primary report W	Scrub	Industrial				
Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential Public National Park / other Government Pept. Private Paling Yards W W Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) W Pathon NK	Woodland	Mining	Agaan to tere			
Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Pailing Yards W W Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) W Pailing Yards W	Cleared	Pastoral/grazing	aou	u track		
N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion W Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Priwate Paling Yards W W Primary report I.D. (ID. Office Use only) W Pathology Bark W Paling Yards W Paling Yards W Paling Yards W Pathology Bark W Primary report I.D. (ID. Office Use only) W Pathology W Pathology W Pathology Pathology W Pathology Patholo						
Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) W W Pathoda N E						
Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential NW NW <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>						
Urban expansion NW Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards W W Site Location Map Ne Residential W W W Base of the second						
Residential Current Land Tenure Public Dept. Private Paling Yards Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) W Pathodal Allowed All		· ·		Site Location		
Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards V Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) W Pathoda W			NW	N	NE	
Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) W Paling Yards W Paling Yards W Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) W Paling Yards W		Residential				
Public Dept. Private Paling Yards Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) Primary report I.D. W Primary report Primary report Primary report I.D. W Primary report Primary report Primary report Primary report I.D. Primary report </td <td>National Pa</td> <td>rk / other Government</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	National Pa	rk / other Government				
Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) Image: State of the s	Public Dept.					
paddock . N E	Private Paling Yards					
Wocdard E	Primary report I.D.	(I.D. Office Use only)				
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $					A A B A	
			W		paldorly IE	
					1	
				SIN.	A T	
			12000	1. 46	6	
			Le och	uco		
SW S SE			SIM			





Site Dimensions
Closed Site Dimensions (m)
Internal length
Internal width
Shelter height
Shelter floor area

Open Site Dimensions (m)

bue

Average width of visible site Estimated area of visible site Length of assessed site area

.

ar wa Aburiyina alle	Recording Form - Site Interpretation and Community Statement page
boriginal Community Inte	rpretation and Management Recommendations
Preliminary Site Asse	
ite Cultural & Scientific A	nalysis and Preliminary Management Recommendations
his section should only be	
-	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consenses
Title	Surname First Name Initials
Organisation	
Address	
Phone number	Fax
Attachments (No.)	Comments
A4 location map	
B/W photographs	
Colour photographs	
Slides	
Aerial photographs	
Site plans, drawings	
Recording tables	
Other	

I

Feature inserts-No.

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	NPWS FEATUR	E RECORDING FORM	- ARTEFACT	page 1
Artefacts collected No Permit issued No O 9% 10:19% 20:29% 30:39% 40-49% 50-59% 60-69% 70-79% 80-69% 70-89% 70-79% 80-69% 70-	First recorded date No. of instances Recorded by	Importance JALB Yes No]
Condition Scatter No. Easting 0 7 5 5 8 Northing 6 2 1 5 6 5 7 Density Dimensions Version Output In situ Yes Northing 6 7 5 5 8 Northing 6 2 1 5 5 7 Version Output Density Dimensions Yes Northing 6 2 3 6 3 7 8 Northing 6 2 7 8 3	Artefacts collected	No 0-9% 10-19%		
(Added count per square metres) (// Length (m) Width (m) Depth (m) In situ Feature Condition General Condition Recommended Action Very good Weathered Boardwalk Revegetation Good Vehicle damage Signage Closure to public Soil erosion control Cost Surface water wash Closure to public Soil erosion control Frie damage Erosion Stock damage Expert assessment Meeting with land manager Meeting with land manager Expert assessment Meeting with land form unit //s ° Slope Closure of permanent water source M PodULCH N E Slope Closure Value PodULCH N E Water Distance to permanent water source Revegetation Water Distance to temporary water source Mater source Mater source Mater source Water Name of nearest permanent water source Mater source Name of nearest permanent water source			Easting 075358	© Northing 62/3637
Very good Weathered Boardwalk Revegetation Good Very good Signage Signage Poor Surface water wash Fire damage Closure to public Soil erosion control Erosion Erosion Stock damage Expert assessment Additional recording Exposed archaeological material Meeting with land manager Complete attaction function and instances) N Feature Plan (indicate scale, location of instances) N Feature Environment (indicate scale, location of instances) N W PodUction N Feature Environment water source molecular to a 20 metres W PodUction N E Mater Distance to permanent water source Board or material Land use W Water Distance to temporary water source Metres Distance to temporary water source Abge: Crowbie Ruw Name of nearest permanent water source Abge: Crowbie Ruw Name of nearest temporary water Name of nearest temporary water		etre) 600 (15 Le	[]	Depth (m)
N N N NE Feature Environment (Complete when fasture environment, drives to site environment, use attributes from over card, p. 2) W PollCl Slope Land form U Slope Cloud Vegetation Land use Vegetation Land use Water Distance to permanent water source 280 metres Distance to temporary water source metres Name of nearest permanent water source Ab & Crowbre Ab & Crowbre Ruw Name of nearest temporary water Name of nearest temporary water	Good	Vehicle damage Surface water wash Fire damage Erosion Stock damage	Boardwalk Fencing Closure to public Continued inspection Fire hazard reduction Expert assessment	Signage Soil erosion control Track closure/re-routing Additional recording
w w w w w w w w w w w w w w	Feature Plan (Ind	dicate scale, location of instances) N	NE Feature Env	
			oddade N E Water Distance to per Distance to terr Name of neares Ab-ec	Land form Land form unit Slope Vegetation Land use manent water source 280 metres metres st permanent water source <i>Crowbre Rium</i>

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P3	0753580	6213637	Flake	Grey Silcrete	28x25x12
P3	0753580	6213637	Flake retouch	Grey Silcrete	30x30x14
P3	0753580	6213637	Core Chip	Grey Silcrete	20x18x14
Р3	0753580	6213637	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	18x23x10
P3	0753580	6213637	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	24x18x11
P3	0753580	6213637	Flake	Grey Silcrete	24x12x8

Sife 4



Aboriginal Site Recording Form



AHIMS Registrar

			-		
DO	Dave	1007	Livratuilla	NICIAL	2220
۳U	DUX	1907.	Hurstville	INDAN	2220
		,			

Office Use Only	
Site Number	
Date received Date entered into system Date catalogued	1
Entered by (I.D.)	
Information Access	Office Use
Gender/male Gender/female Location restriction General restriction No a	CCESS Only
For Further Information Contact:	
Nominated Trustee	
Title Surname First Name Initials	
	Client on system
Organisation	System
Address	
Phone number	
Knowledge Holder	
Title Surname First Name Initials	Client on
	system
Organisation	
Address Address	
Phone number	
Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts	
Geographic Location	
Site Name Paliing Yards	
Easting 0753652 Northing 6213293 AGD/GDA GDA	
Mapsheet FULLERTOW	
Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS	
Other Registration	
Primary Recorder Title Surname First Name Initials	
Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V I R O N M E N T A L	Client on
Address P O B O X 6 9 O S P R I N G W O D 2 7 7	system
Phone number 1 3 0 3 0 2 5 7 Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1	
Date recorded 14/12-120 (D	11

NPWS Aboriginal S			page 2	
	OPEN/CLOSE SITE	Open Site		
Site Context Landform				
	Landform Unit			
Mountainous	Beach	Tidal Flat	Upper slope Stream bank	
Plain	Coastal rock platform	Cliff	Plain Stream channel	
Rolling hills	Dune	Crest	Ridge Swamp	
Steep hills	Intertidal flat	Flat	Tor Terrace	
Undulating plain	Lagoon	Lower slope	Valley flat Terrace flat	
lope	Tidal Creek	Mid slope	Levy	
5 degrees				
Vegetation	Land use	Water		
 Closed forest 	Conservation	Distance to perma	nent water source 280 metres	
Grasslands	Established urban	Distance to tempo	rary water source metres	
Isolated clumps of trees	Farming-intensive		ermanent water source Abercranbie	
Open forest	Farming-low intensity	Name of nearest te	P.S. OC	
Open woodland	Forestry			
Scrub	Industrial		Directions for Relocation	
Woodland	Mining			
=	Pastoral/grazing	Racecourse Hill as on 1;25000 plop.		
Cleared Revegetated	Recreation	on	1,25000 Map.	
			•	
N/A	Semi-rural			
	Service corridor			
	Transport corridor		Site Location Map	
	Urban expansion	NW	N	
	Residential			
Current Land Tenure				
Public Dept.	ark / other Government			
Private Paling Yard	S			
Primary report I.D.	(I.D. Office Use only)			
			Diver N	
			N KING	
		w L	XSFE 4	
			4	
		SW	S	




S



Length of assessed site area

100m

	erpretation and Management Recommendations	
Under Otto A		
eliminary Site Asse		
Cultural & Scientific	Analysis and Preliminary Management Recommendations	
		_
s section should only be	filled in by the Endorsees	
	filled in by the Endorsees owledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community C	onsen
dorsed by:	owledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community C	
dorsed by: Kn Title	owledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community C	
dorsed by: Kn Title Organisation	owledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community C	
dorsed by: Kn Title	owledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community C	

Į.

NPWS FEATURE RECORDING FORM - ARTEFACT	page 1
Site I.D. See Site Name Site I.D. Site I.D. Site Name Site Name No. of instances Site Name Site	24
Artefacts collected No	Artefacts to Percentage of Stone Artefacts 1-49% 50-59% 60-69% 70-79% 80-89% 90-100%
Density Dimensions (Artefact count per square metre) Image: Color of the square metre)	0 7 5 3 6 5 2 Northing 6 2 / 3 2 9 5 Yes No Width (m) Depth (m) In situ Stratified
Very good Weathered Bo Good Vehicle damage Clo Poor Surface water wash Co Fire damage Fire Erosion Ex Stock damage Ex	ardwalk Revegetation ncing Signage osure to public Soil erosion control ontinued inspection Track closure/re-routing e hazard reduction Additional recording pert assessment eeting with land manager
Feature Plan (Indicate scale, location of instances)	Feature Environment (Complete when feature environment
W Site Ind	Land form Land form unit Land form unit Slope Wodlad Grozing Land use
sw s si	

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P4	0753652	6213293	Chip	Grey Silcrete	20x20x8
P4	0753652	6213293	Chip	Grey Silcrete	23x19x7
P4	0753652	6213293	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25x12x7
P4	0753652	6213293	Flake with retouch	Grey Silcrete	26x22x12
P4	0753652	6213293	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25x26x11

SITCO	
AFINS Aboriginal Heritage Information and International State Recording Form AHIMS Registrar PO Box 1967, Hurstville NSW 2220	Office of Environm & Heritag
Office Use Only	
Site Number	
Date received Date entered into system/ Date catalogued	
Entered by (I.D.)	
Information Access	
Gender/male Gender/female Location restriction General restriction No access	Office Use Only
For Further Information Contact:	
Nominated Trustee	
Title Surname First Name Initials	
	Client or
Organisation	system
Address	
Phone number	
Knowledge Holder	
Title Surname First Name Initials	Clienter
	Client or system
Organisation	
Address	
Phone number	
Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts	
	4
Geographic Location	
Site Name Palling Yards	
Easting 0 753678 Northing 6213172 AGD/GDA GDA	
Mapsheet FULLER TON	
Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS	
Other Registration	
Primary Recorder	
TitleSurnameFirst NameInitials	
M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N	
Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V 1 R O N M E N T A L	Client o system
Address P O B O X 6 9 0 S P R I N G W O D 2 7 7	System
Phone number 1 3 0 3 0 2 5 0 7 Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1	
Date recorded 74(12-12009	

Sites

	OPEN/CLOSE SITE	Open Site		
ite Context				
andform	Landform Unit			
Mountainous	Beach	Tidal Flat Upper slope Stream bank		
Plain	Coastal rock platform	Cliff Plain Stream channel		
2 Rolling hills	Dune	Crest Ridge Swamp		
Steep hills	Intertidal flat	Flat Tor Terrace		
Undulating plain	Lagoon	Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat		
Slope	Tidal Creek	Mid slope Levy		
degrees				
/egetation	Land use	Water		
Closed forest	Conservation	Distance to permanent water source		
Grasslands	Established urban	Distance to temporary water source metres		
Isolated clumps of trees		Name of nearest permanent water source Abercrowbie		
Open forest	Farming-low intensity	P		
V Open woodland	Forestry			
Scrub		Directions for Relocation Just south on site 5		
Woodland	Mining	Just south on sites		
Cleared	Pastoral/grazing			
Revegetated	Recreation			
N/A	Semi-rural			
	Service corridor			
	Transport corridor	Site Location Map		
	Urban expansion	Site Location Map		
		NW		
Current Land Tenure	Urban expansion Residential	NW		
Public National Pa	Urban expansion Residential	NW		
Public National Pa	Urban expansion Residential	NW		
PublicNational PaidPrivatePaling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW		
PublicNational PaidPrivatePaling Yard	Urban expansion Residential	NW		
Public National Paint Private Paling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW		
Public National Paral Dept. Dept. Private Paling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW		
Public National Paper. Private Paling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW		
Public National Paral Dept. Dept. Private Paling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW N Pieddoch X Site 4 Pieddoch C 1/2 5		
PublicNational PaidPrivatePaling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW		
Public National Paint Private Paling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW		
Public National Paint Private Paling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW		
PublicNational PaidPrivatePaling Yard	Urban expansion Residential ark / other Government	NW		





S



20 20

Average width of visible site Estimated area of visible site 7 3000 Length of assessed site area

	mentation and Management Department dations
Preliminary Site Asses	rpretation and Management Recommendations
This section should only be first section should only be first the Title Organisation Address Phone number	illed in by the Endorsees wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials
Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides	Comments

NPWS FEATURE RECORDING FORM - ARTEFAC	T page 1
Artefacts collected No	S Market Artefacts to Percentage of Stone Artefacts 40-49% 50-59% 60-69% 70-79% 80-89% 90-100%
Density Dimensions (Artefact count per square metre) Image: Condition	0 7 5 3 6 7 Northing 6 2 (3 7 2 Yes No Width (m) Depth (m) In situ Yes Yes Stratified Yes
Very good Weathered Good Vehicle damage Poor Surface water wash Fire damage F Erosion F Stock damage F	Action Boardwalk Revegetation Fencing Signage Closure to public Soil erosion control Continued inspection Track closure/re-routing Fire hazard reduction Additional recording Expert assessment Meeting with land manager
Feature Plan (Indicate scale, location of instances)	NE Feature Environment differs to site environment, use attributes from cover card, p. 2) Land form Land form Land form unit Slope Wodeland Vegetation Grazing Land use Water Distance to permanent water source Distance to temporary water source Mame of nearest permanent water source Name of nearest temporary water SE

P5	0753678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	15X8X4
P5	0753678	6213172	Possible Grinding Stone	Sandstone	100X100X80
P5	0753678	6213172	Possible Grinding Bowl or Shaping Tool	Sandstone	180X120X75
P5	0753678	6213172	Core	Grey Silcrete	45X35X28
P5	0753678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	22X12X5
P5	0753678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	28X16X6
P5	0753678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	14X9X5
P5	0753678	6213172	Flake	Grey Silcrete	17X12X4

Siteb

Aboriginal Heritage Information Compared System Aboriginal Heritage Information Compared System AHIMS Registrar PO Box 1967, Hurstville NSW 3	SOVERNMENT & Heritag
Office Use Only	
Site Number	
Date received Date entered into system Date catalogued	
Entered by (I.D.)	
nformation Access	
Gender/male Gender/female Location restriction General restriction	No access Office Use
For Further Information Contact:	
Nominated Trustee	
Title Surname First Name	Initials
	Client or
Organisation	system
Address	
Phone number Fax	
Knowledge Holder	
Title Surname First Name	Initials Client or
	system
Organisation	
Address	
Phone number	
Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts	
Geographic Location	
Site Name Paling Yards	
Easting 0753178 Northing 6212544 AGD/GDA	GDA
Mapsheet FULLER to W	
Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS	
Other Registration	
Primary Recorder	
Title Surname First Name	Initials
M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N	
Organisation A N D E R S O N E N V I R O N M E N T A L	Client or
Address P O B O X 6 9 0 S P R I N G W O O D 2 7	7 7 system

Fax 2 8 5 8 0 4 7 3 1

1 3 0 0 3 0 2 5 0 7

1412 2010

Phone number

Date recorded







Site Dimensions Closed Site Dimensions (m) Internal length Internal width Shelter height Shelter floor area **Open Site Dimensions (m)** 120 Total length of visible site



Average width of visible site 12 Estimated area of visible site Length of assessed site area

	rpretation and Management Recommendations
····;	
Preliminary Site Asses	ssment
-	Analysis and Preliminary Management Recommendations
his section should only be f	filled in by the Endorsees
Endorsed by: Know	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
Endorsed by: Know	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
Endorsed by: Know	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
Endorsed by: Know Title	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.)	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings Recording tables	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials
Title Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs Site plans, drawings	Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials Initials

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	NPWS FEATU	RE RECORDING FORM - /	ARTEFACT	page 1
Condition Scatter No. Easting Item 1 Northing 2// 2// 2// 2// 2// 4// Density Dimensions Yes No Image: Condition General Condition In situ Yes No Feature Condition General Condition Recommended Action Boardwalk Revegetation Very good Weathered Boardwalk Revegetation Signage Cool Surface water wash Costure to public Soil erosion control Frie damage Frie damage Costure to public Soil erosion control Stock damage Exposed archaeological material Meeting with land manager Feature Plan (Indicate scale, location of instances) NE Feature Environment Complete when feature environment No Net Signage Land form Land form unit Signage No Net Signage Land use Signage Signage Very good Net East as a control Complete when feature environment Complete when feature environment Very environment Norther feature environment Complete when feature environment Complete when feature environment	First recorded dat No. of instance Recorded b Stone artefacts on Artefacts collecte	e <u>12256</u> Importance s <u>35</u> y <u>1A/CB</u> Yes No y <u>Yes</u> <u>Percentage o</u> d <u>No</u> <u>0-9% 10-19% 20</u>	Moderate - High	
Very good Weathered Boardwalk Revegetation Good Vehicle damage Closure to public Soil erosion control Poor Surface water wash Continued inspection Track closure/re-routing Fire damage Fire hazard reduction Additional recording Erosion Stöck damage Exposed archaeological material Meeting with land manager Feature Plan (Indicate scale, location of instances) N Feature Environment (complete when feature environment, use attribut from over card, p. 2) N Feature Environment (complete when feature environment, use attribut for over card, p. 2) N Feature Environment (complete when feature environment, use attribut for over card, p. 2) N Feature Environment (complete when feature environment, use attribut for over card, p. 2) N Feature Environment (complete when feature environment, use attribut for over card, p. 2) N Feature Environment (complete when feature environment, use attribut for over card, p. 2) N Feature Environment water source Good and vegetation N E Water Distance to permanent water source Name of nearest permanent water source A b & crum in & Arim Maim in & Arim in & Arim	Condition (Artefact count per square	Scatter No. Density Dimensions metrey 0,2 120 Lengt		(m) Yes No
Feature Plan (Indicate scale, location of instances) N Feature Environment differs to alle environment differs to alle environment differs to alle environment differs to alle environment use attribution over card, p. 2) Land form Land form unit Slope Uoculuad Vegetation Grozzing Land use Water Distance to permanent water source Distance to temporary water source Mame of nearest permanent water source Ab & Crowbrie Minn	Very good Good	Weathered Vehicle damage Surface water wash Fire damage Erosion Stock damage	Boardwalk Fencing Closure to public Continued inspection Fire hazard reduction	Signage Soil erosion control Track closure/re-routing
N N N N N N N N N N N N N N		ndicate scale, location of instances)	NE	differs to site environment, use attributes
		Ridge Elat	Ridge Ridge Soundland Grazing Water Distance to permanent w Distance to temporary w Name of nearest permar Aber Crown	Land form unit Slope Vegetation Land use vater source 600 metres ater source metres metres

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	40X30X6
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	30X20X8
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	35X25X7
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X17X5
P6	0753178	6212544	Core	Brown Silcrete	45X40X16
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X14X4
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	30X23X9
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	42X30X7
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X20X4
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	32X30X15
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	35X30X7
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X16X4
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake retouch	Grey Silcrete	38X23X6
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	15X12X3
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X20X5
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X20X4
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	12X10X3
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	12X10X3
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	40X18X7
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	26X29X7
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	24X22X6
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X23X5
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	19X21X4
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	16X17X3
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	24X22X6
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake retouch	Grey Silcrete	35X30X14
P6	0753178	6212544	Core Fragment	Grey Silcrete	30X27X7
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X25X5
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	16X12X4
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X26X6
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	16X18X12
P6	0753178	6212544	Chip	Grey Silcrete	10X10X3
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	42X38X14
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	33X25X12
P6	0753178	6212544	Flake	Grey Silcrete	22X17X8



Aboriginal Site Recording Form

Abo



AHIMS Registrar

	-				
PO	Box	1967	Hurstville	NSW	2220
	00/	,	rurotrino		

Office Use Only Site Number	
Date received Date entered into system Date catalogued	-r
Entered by (I.D.)	
Information Access	Office Use
Gender/male Gender/female Location restriction General restriction No acce	
For Further Information Contact:	
Nominated Trustee	
Title Surname First Name Initials	
	Client on system
Organisation	
Knowledge Holder	
Title Surname First Name Initials	Client on system
	system
Organisation	
Phone number Fax Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Heritage Division Contacts	
Geographic Location	_
Site Name Palling Yards	
Easting 0750265 Northing 6214656 AGD/GDA GDA	
Mapsheet FULCERTON	
Zone 55 Location Method Non-Differential GPS	
Other Registration	
Primary Recorder	
Title Surname First Name Initials	
Title Surname First Name Initials M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N Initials	Client on
Title Surname First Name Initials M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Client on system
Title Surname First Name Initials M R A N D E R S O N J A S O N IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	









Average width of visible site Estimated area of visible site Length of assessed site area

SE

10

100

original Community Inter	pretation and Management Recommendations
eliminary Site Asses	sment
e Cultural & Scientific Ar	nalysis and Preliminary Management Recommendations
s section should only be fil	lled in by the Endorsees
dorsed by: Know	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens
dorsed by: Know	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens
dorsed by: Know	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens
dorsed by: Know Title	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number tachments (No.)	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number tachments (No.) A4 location map	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number tachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number tachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number tachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number tachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <
dorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number tachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <
Title Organisation Address Phone number tachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides Aerial photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consens Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials <

Γ

Т.

NPWS FEATURE RECORDING FORM - AF	RTEFACT pa	nge 1
Site I.D. Site 7 Site Name First recorded date 44(2/23 fo No. of instances 2 Recorded by 3A/2B Yes No	site 7 Moderale	
Stone artefacts only Yes Percentage of No.	Non-stone Artefacts to Percentage of Stone Artefacts 9% 30-39% 40-49% 50-59% 60-69% 70-79% 80-89% 90-100%	
Feature Context & Condition Scatter No. Density Dimensions	Easting 0750265 Northing 6214056	es No
(Artefact count per square metre)	(m) C Width (m) Depth (m) In situ Stratified	<u>4</u>
Very good Weathered Good Vehicle damage Poor Surface water wash Fire damage Erosion Stock damage Exposed archaeological mate	erial Boardwalk Revegetation Signage Soil erosion control Closure to public Soil erosion control Track closure/re-rou Additional recording Meeting with land manager	uting
Feature Plan (Indicate scale, location of instances)	NE Feature Environment (Complete when feature en differs to site environment, from cover card, p. 2)	ivironment use attributes
v timber	Crest Land form Land form unit Slope Podd.ck Vegetation Land use	
track Fer &	Distance to temporary water source Name of nearest permanent water source Abercircubie River	metres
sw s	Name of nearest temporary water	

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P7	0750265	6214056	Core	Breciated Silcrete	41X23X12
P7	0750265	6214056	Backblade	Grey Silcrete	30X10X4



AFIINS Aborignal Hentige Information (yanz adment System	Aboriginal Site Recording Form AHIMS Registrar PO Box 1967, Hurstville NSW 2220	Office of Environmen & Heritage
Office Use Only		
Site Number		
r	d into system Date catalogued	
Entered by (I.D.)		
Information Access		
Gender/male Gender/female Lo	ocation restriction General restriction No access	Office Use Only
For Further Information Contact:		
Nominated Trustee		
Title Surname	First Name Initials	
		Client on
Organisation		system
Address		
Phone number	Fax	
Knowledge Holder		
Title Surname	First Name Initials	Client on
		system
Organisation		
Address		
Phone number	Fax	
Aboriginal Heritage Unit or Cultural Herita	ige Division Contacts	
		1
Geographic Location		
	ds	
Easting 0751514 Northing	-217053 AGD/GDA GDA	
Mapsheet FULLERTOK		
Zone 55 Location	Method Non-Differential GPS	1
Other Reg	gistration	
		_
Primary Recorder	First Name Initials	
Title Surname M R A N D E R S O N		
		Client on
Address P O B O X 6 9 0	S P R I N G W O O D 2 7 7 7	system
Phone number 1 3 0 3 0 2 5 0 7		
Date recorded 14(12/20/1		
Date recorded 17 (17 - 17		

andform Landform Unit Mountainous Beach Tidal Flat Upper slope Stream bank Plain Cosastal rock platform Cliff Plain Stream channel Rolling hills Dune Crest Ridge Swamp Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undukting plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat Iope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Meters © degrees Conservation Distance to permanent water source Am metes Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water Receded Open forest Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Am dounce Strub Industrial Woodland Service corridor Ming N/A Service corridor Na Service corridor Nw Public National Park / other Government Nw Nw Nw Public National Park / other Government Nw Nw Nw Public Intertreal of the servere Nw		OPEN/CLOSE SITE	Open Site		
Mountainous Beach Tidal Flat Upper slope Stream bank Plain Coastal rock platform Cliff Plain Stream bank Rolling hills Dune Crest Ridge Swamp Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat Iope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Stream bank degrees Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source Band metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source A band owner Name of nearest permanent water source A band owner Name of nearest permanent water source A band owner Name of nearest permanent water source A band owner NS w of Open woodland Forestry Sexub Industrial Sexub Name of nearest permanent water source Mountaining Woodland Mining Sexub Name of nearest permanent water source Mountaing Sexue Sexue Sexue Sexue Mountaing Sexue Mounaing Sexue S	Site Context				
Plain Coastal rock platform Cliff Plain Stream channel Rolling hills Dune Crest Ridge Swamp Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat lope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Image: Steep degrees Conservation Distance to permanent water source Meetres Closed forest Conservation Distance to temporary water source Meetres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Abs: Conservation Isolated clumps of trees Farming-low intensity Name of nearest temporary water Directions for Relocation Open forest Genesitial Mining Set Location Map Nume Woodland Mining Set Location Map Nume Nume Site Location Map N/A Service corridor Transport corridor Nume Nume Site Location Map N/A Service corridor Nume Nume Site Location Map Public Nume	andform	Landform Unit			
Rolling hills Dune Crest Ridge Swamp Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat ope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Image: State of the stat	Mountainous	Beach	Tidal Flat	Upper slope	Stream bank
Steep hills Intertidal flat Flat Tor Terrace Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat ope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Image: Steep hills Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Image: Steep hills Tor Terrace flat Terrace flat ope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy Image: Steep hills Land use Water Distance to permanent water source Image: Steep hills Image: Steep hills Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source Image: Steep hills Image:	Plain	Coastal rock platform	Cliff	Plain	Stream channel
Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat ope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy getation Land use Water Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 3Lm metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source Abu grashie Metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Abu grashie Open woodland Forestry Name of nearest temporary water Nover the source Abu grashie Woodland Mining Sce Lower More the source Nover the source Nover the source N/A Semi-rural Sce Sce Abu grashie Nover the source Nover the source N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Site Location Map Nover the source Nover the source Nover the source Public National Park / other Government Nover the source Nover the source Nover the source Nover the source Public Nutree Paling Yards Nover the source Nover the source Nover the s	Rolling hills	Dune	Crest	Ridge	Swamp
Undulating plain Lagoon Lower slope Valley flat Terrace flat ope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy & degrees egetation Land use Water Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source J.L	Steep hills	Intertidal flat	Flat	Tor	Terrace
ope Tidal Creek Mid slope Levy degrees degrees egetation Land use Water Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source J.L. Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source J.L. Mid slope Levy Source of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source J.L. Directions for Relocation Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Directions for Relocation Woodland Mining Service corridor Service corridor State J.L. Service corridor N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Site Location Map NW Public National Park / other Government Dept. NW Nutrent Land Tenure Nutrent Dept. Nutrent Dept. <td>-</td> <td>Lagoon</td> <td>Lower slope</td> <td>Valley flat</td> <td>Terrace flat</td>	-	Lagoon	Lower slope	Valley flat	Terrace flat
Seques Land use Water Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 3 / m metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Mourable Open forest Farming-low intensity Name of nearest temporary water Mourable Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Directions for Relocation Woodland Mining See hand owner NS W of Revegetated Recreation Service corridor N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Urban expansion NW Residential Public National Park / other Government NW Public Num Num Num <tr< td=""><td></td><td></td><td> ·</td><td></td><td></td></tr<>			·		
Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 3 / metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source Metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Aburnahit Open forest Farming-low intensity Name of nearest permanent water source Aburnahit Open woodland Forestry Name of nearest temporary water Directions for Relocation Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing See hard 6wner Revegetated Recreation N/A Service corridor Urban expansion Residential NW N Public National Park / other Government Dept. National Park / other Government Dept. Nu Private Paling Yards Nu Nu Nu Image: Service (I.D. office Use only) Nu Nu Nu N/A Service corridor Nu Nu Nu Nu Public National Park / other Government Nu Nu Nu Nu Private			·		
Closed forest Conservation Distance to permanent water source 3 / metres Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source Metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Aburnahit Open forest Farming-low intensity Name of nearest permanent water source Aburnahit Open woodland Forestry Name of nearest temporary water Directions for Relocation Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing See hard 6wner Revegetated Recreation N/A Service corridor Transport corridor Transport corridor Nw Name Public National Park / other Government NW Network Public National Park / other Government NW Ndetwork Private Paling Yards (ID. Office Use only) N	agatation	Landuca	Wator		
Grasslands Established urban Distance to temporary water source metres Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Aburnahit Open forest Farming-low intensity Name of nearest temporary water Name of nearest temporary water Open woodland Forestry Name of nearest temporary water Name of nearest temporary water Scrub Industrial Name of nearest temporary water Name of nearest temporary water Woodland Mining Secub Directions for Relocation Cleared Pastoral/grazing Secub Act Owner NS W of Revegetated Recreation N/A Service corridor N/A Service corridor Transport corridor Site Location Map NW NW NW NW NW Public National Park / other Government NW NW Public Nept. NU Secue only Private Paling Yards (I.D. Office Use only) NV				ont water source	34
Isolated clumps of trees Farming-intensive Name of nearest permanent water source Open forest Farming-low intensity Open woodland Forestry Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential Nume of nearest permanent water source Public Name of nearest temporary water N/A Nume of nearest temporary water N/A Service corridor Urban expansion Residential N/V Nume of nearest permanent water source N/A Nume of nearest temporary water N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A					
Open forest Farming-low intensity Name of nearest temporary water Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential NW Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards rimary report I.D. (ID. Office Use only) N		5			AL
Open woodland Forestry Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards					
Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential NW Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards (I.D. Office Use only)			Name of nearest ter	nporary water	reiner
Scrub Industrial Woodland Mining Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential NW Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards NN				Directions for Rel	ocation
Woodland Minning Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards Vila Office Use only)			See	0	
Cleared Pastoral/grazing Revegetated Recreation N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion NW Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards Primary report I.D.	Woodland	Mining		1	stead
N/A Semi-rural Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential NW Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards Primary report I.D. (ID. Office Use only) NW NW NW NW NW NW NW NW NW NU	Cleared	Pastoral/grazing	u u up	The house	-1-1-4
Service corridor Transport corridor Urban expansion Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only)	Revegetated	Recreation			
☐ Transport corridor ☐ Urban expansion ☐ Residential NW Site Location Map NW NW <	N/A	Semi-rural			
Urban expansion Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private Paling Yards Number of the private		Service corridor			
Urban expansion Residential Current Land Tenure Public National Park / other Government Dept. Private Paling Yards Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) NW NU National Park / other Government Dept. Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only) NU Nu Nu		Transport corridor		011 1	
Residential Current Land Tenure Public Public Dept. Private Paling Yards					мар
Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only)		Urban expansion	NIM/		
Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only)			NW		1
Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only)	Current Land Tenure		NW		trade
Primary report I.D. (I.D. Office Use only)	Rublic National Pa	Residential	NW		108 track-
	Public National Pa	Residential	NW		es track-
	Public National Pa	Residential	NW		es track.
	PublicNational Pa Dept.Image: PrivatePaling Yards	Residential	NW		es track
	PublicNational Pa Dept.✔PrivatePaling Yards	Residential	NW)
	PublicNational Pa Dept.✔PrivatePaling Yards	Residential)
	PublicNational Pa Dept.Image: PrivatePaling Yards	Residential)
	Public National Pa Dept. ✔ Private Paling Yards	Residential)
	PublicNational Pa Dept.Image: PrivatePaling Yards	Residential)
	PublicNational Pa Dept.✔PrivatePaling Yards	Residential)
	PublicNational Pa Dept.✔PrivatePaling Yards	Residential)
	Public National Pa Dept. ✔ Private Paling Yards	Residential)





S

Site Dimensions

Closed Site Dimensions (m)

400

Internal length Internal width Shelter height Shelter floor area

Open Site Dimensions (m)

100 Total length of visible site 100 Average width of visible site 100 Estimated area of visible site 500 Length of assessed site area

poriginal Community Inter	rpretation and Management Recommendations
	Providence and an and a second s
reliminary Site Asses	ssment
ne cultural & Scientific Al	nalysis and Preliminary Management Recommendations
his section should only be fi	illed in by the Endorsees
ndorsed by: Knov	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
ndorsed by: Knov	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
Endorsed by: Knov	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
Endorsed by: Know Title	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
ndorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consense Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials
indorsed by: Know Title Organisation	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials Initials Initials Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.)	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials
Endorsed by: Know Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs Slides	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials
Title Organisation Address Phone number Attachments (No.) A4 location map B/W photographs Colour photographs	wledge Holder Nominated Trustee Native Title Holder Community Consensu Surname First Name Initials

Other

Feature inserts-No.

Site I.D. Site X First recorded date 14/12/200 No. of instances 35 Recorded by 3A (LB Yes No Stone artefacts only Yes Artefacts collected No	
Permit issued No 0-9% 10-19% 20-29% 30-39% 40-49% 50-59% 60-69% 70-79% 80-89% 90-100%	
Feature Context & Condition Scatter No. Easting Condition Northing 2170 Density Dimensions (Artefact count per square metre) OCO IOO Length (m) OCO Units Feature Condition General Condition Recommended Action	Yes No
Very good Weathered Boardwalk Revegetation Good Vehicle damage Fencing Signage Poor Surface water wash Closure to public Soil erosion Fire damage Erosion Track closur Stock damage Exposed archaeological material Meeting with land manager	control re/re-routing
W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	3 km metres metres

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P8	0751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	35X40X11
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake Retouch	Quartz	38X43X8
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	18X23X6
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	18X14X4
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	25X23X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X24X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	38X28X12
P8	0751514	6217053	Retouch Flake	Grey Silcrete	33X12X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Broken flake	Grey Silcrete	30X15X6
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake/Chip	Grey Silcrete	31X14X4
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	20X20X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake Broken	Grey Silcrete	21X22X8
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake Broken	Grey Silcrete	21X10X3
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Silcrete	18X17X8
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	35X28X12
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	12X11X5
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	21X12X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Silcrete	26X14X4
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	34X28X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	37X18X10
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	17X12X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	34X22X12
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	14X15X4
P8	0751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	17X17X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X17X12
P8	0751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X19X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	23X26X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Chert	32X21X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	32X29X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	10X10X5
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X15X4
P8	0751514	6217053	Flaked Chip	Grey Silcrete	26X14X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Silcrete	37X34X14
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake/Scraper	Grey Silcrete	41X35X14
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake/retouched	Grey Silcrete	36X25X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	17X14X4
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	39X23X12
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake Tool	Grey Silcrete	55X39X19
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	12X10X5
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	18X15X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Brown Silcrete	23X18X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake retouched	Grey Silcrete	29X23X12
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	10X10X6
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X12X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	25X18X8

Site	Easting UTM-X MGA / Zone-55	Northing UTM-Y MGA / Zone-55	Artifact Type	Material	LxWxB
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	10X14X8
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	15X12X5
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	28X17X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Broken Flake	Grey Silcrete	27X18X11
P8	0751514	6217053	Broken Flake with retouch	Grey Silcrete	45X28X17
P8	0751514	6217053	Broken Flake Tool	Grey Silcrete	28X29X11
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	12X18X7
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake broken	Grey Silcrete	22X14X9
P8	0751514	6217053	Chip	Grey Silcrete	15X17X11
P8	0751514	6217053	Flake	Grey Silcrete	18X16X11